

Virginia Commonwealth University VCU Scholars Compass

Theses and Dissertations

Graduate School

2015

Relationship between Autophagy, Senescence, and DNA Damage in Radiation Sensitization by PARP Inhibition

Moureq Alotaibi

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarscompass.vcu.edu/etd



© The Author

Downloaded from

https://scholarscompass.vcu.edu/etd/4015

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Graduate School at VCU Scholars Compass. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of VCU Scholars Compass. For more information, please contact libcompass@vcu.edu.

© Moureq Rashed Alotaibi 2015

All Rights Reserved

Relationship between Autophagy, Senescence, and DNA Damage in Radiation Sensitization by PARP Inhibition

A thesis submitted in fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in

Pharmacology and Toxicology at Virginia Commonwealth University

by

Moureq Alotaibi

B.S. Pharmaceutical Sciences, King Saud University

Director: DR. DAVID GEWIRTZ,

Professor in Pharmacology and Toxicology

Virginia Commonwealth University

Richmond, Virginia

October 2015

Acknowledgements

First, I would like to thank my parents, my brothers, and my sister for the endless support they have provided me with throughout my life, especially regarding my education. Although my father is no longer with us, while he was, he always encouraged me to push myself harder in order to reach my goals. I know that he would have been proud to see how far I have come with my education. Also, my mother has always been a source of inspiration for me and I would like to thank her for constantly keeping me in her prayers and thoughts. I know my parents worked hard to help me get to the place that I am in at this point in my life; and for that I will always be grateful to them.

I would also like to thank my advisor, Dr. Gewirtz, for allowing me to join his lab since the summer of 2010. I appreciate the guidance he has given me throughout my Ph.D. journey. Without his help this journey would not have been possible. He also provided me with the tools I needed in order to complete my work. I will not forget this and am thankful to have a generous and amicable lab advisor like Dr. Gewirtz. Together with my advisor, I would also like to show my gratitude towards my lab members that were with me through thick and thin and helped me many times to finish my Ph.D. in time.

Last, but not the least, I deeply want to thank King Saud University for awarding me with a scholarship and providing me the financial support that I needed in order to study abroad. By giving me the opportunity to come to the US to study, the University enabled me to enrich my education in a way I never would have been able to do at home.

Table of contents:

1.1 Cancer:	7
1.2 Statistics:	7
1.3 Colorectal cancer:	8
1.4 DNA repair:	10
1.5 DNA repair and carcinogenesis:	14
1.6 Radiation	15
1.7 Autophagy	16
1.8 Senescence	17
1.9 Significance and Background	19
Chapter 2: Poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) Inhibitors (Overview)	25
2.1 Introduction (Function and Structure):	25
2.2 Targeting PARPs and the usefulness of PARP inhibition in cancer therapy	26
2.3 The pharmacokinetic properties of PARP inhibitors.	29
2.4 The implications of PARP inhibitors in cancer therapy	31
2.5 Drawbacks and limitations	33
Chapter 3: Materials and methods	35
3.1 Cell lines.	35
3.2 Time course of radiation-induced effects on cell viability	35
3.3 Clonogenic survival assay	36
3.4 Assessment of autophagy by acridine orange staining	36
3.5 Transfection of HCT116 cells with RFP-LC3.	
3.6 Cell cycle analysis.	
3.7 Evaluation of senescence by β -galactosidase staining.	
3.8 Detection of γH2AX foci as a marker of DNA damage	
3.9 Evaluation of DNA damage extent by the comet assay	
3.10 Evaluation of apoptosis	
3.11 Western blotting	40
3.12 Statistical analysis.	40
Chapter 4: Results:	41

4.1 Response of DNA repair-competent and DNA repair-deficient cell lines to radiation
4.2 Induction of autophagy and senescence by ionizing radiation in Ligase IV-proficient HCT-116 and Ligase IV-deficient HCT-116 cell lines
4.3 The relationship between autophagy and senescence in irradiated cells43
4.5 Cells induced to undergo autophagy/senescence by irradiation retain the capacity for proliferative recovery and are capable of repairing persistent double strand breaks (DSBs)
4.6 Radiosensitization by PARP inhibitors correlates with increased autophagy and senescence, but not apoptosis
4.7 Lack of involvement of apoptosis in sensitization by PARP inhibitors in HCT116 cells
4.8 Effects of autophagy inhibition on radiosensitization by PARP inhibition
Figures and Legends
Chapter 5: Discussion
5.1 Introduction
5.2 Differences in response to low doses of radiation between Liagase IV-proficient and Ligase IV- deficient cell lines
5.3 The nature of irradiation-induced autophagy and irradiation-induced senescence in HCT116 cells.
5.4 The connection between autophagy and senescence. Are they directly linked?
5.5 Targeting DNA repair via inhibiting PARP87
5.6 Inhibition of autophagy in HCT116 cells treated with irradiation and PARP inhibitors
5.7 Effect of PARP inhibitors on the recovery of senescent and non-senescent cells
5.9 Conclusion:
Future studies:

Relationship between Autophagy, Senescence, and DNA Damage in Radiation Sensitization by PARP Inhibition

Abstract

Radiotherapy continues to be a primary modality in the treatment of cancer. DNA damage induced by radiation can promote apoptosis as well as both autophagy and senescence, where autophagy and senescence can theoretically function to prolong tumor survival. A primary aim of this work was to investigate the hypothesis that autophagy and/or senescence could be permissive for DNA repair, thereby facilitating tumor cell recovery from radiation-induced growth arrest and/or cell In addition, studies were designed to elucidate the involvement of autophagy and death. senescence in radiation sensitization by PARP inhibitors and the re-emergence of a proliferating tumor cell population. In the context of this work, the relationship between radiation-induced autophagy and senescence was also determined. Studies were performed using DNA repair proficient HCT116 colon carcinoma cells and a repair deficient Ligase IV (-/-) isogenic cell line. Irradiation promoted a parallel induction of autophagy and senescence that was strongly correlated with the extent of persistent H2AX phosphorylation in both cell lines; however inhibition of autophagy failed to suppress senescence, indicating that the two responses were dissociable. Irradiation resulted in a transient arrest in the HCT116 cells while arrest was prolonged in the Ligase IV (-/-) cells; however, both cell lines ultimately recovered proliferative function, which may reflect maintenance of DNA repair capacity. The PARP inhibitors (Olaparib) and (Niraparib) increased the extent of persistent DNA damage induced by radiation as well as the extent of both autophagy and senescence; neither cell line underwent significant apoptosis by radiation alone or in the presence of the PARP inhibitors. Inhibition of autophagy failed to attenuate radiation sensitization, indicating that autophagy was not involved in the action of the PARP inhibitors. As with radiation alone, despite sensitization by PARP inhibition, proliferative recovery was evident within a period of 10-20 days. While inhibition of DNA repair via PARP inhibition may initially sensitize tumor cells to radiation via the promotion of senescence, this strategy does not appear to interfere with proliferative recovery, which could ultimately contribute to disease recurrence.

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.1 Cancer:

Cancer is a general terminology that reflects a group of diseases resulting from uncontrolled growth of abnormal cells. The abnormal cells start to grow inside human bodies due to genomic instability. In normal cells, DNA damage caused by inefficient DNA replication or an increase in reactive oxygen species (ROS) levels can be either repaired or lead to cell death if the damage is not properly repaired. On the other hand, cancer cells can resist the DNA damage and do not undergo cell death, which then lead to production of a new abnormal cell. When a group of cancerous cells continue growing out of control, they form a mass called a tumor. However, not all tumors are cancerous; some can be non-malignant and slowly growing benign tumors that are unable to invade surrounding tissues. Benign tumors are incapable of traveling throughout the blood stream to develop as metastases, which is a well-known characteristic of malignant tumors. During metastasis, malignant tumor cells spread via the blood and lymphatic system to other organs such as liver, brain, and lungs. (American Cancer Society)

1.2 Statistics:

Cancer is one of the leading causes of death in the United States as well as in other parts of the world. According to the American Cancer Society, 1,658,370 new cases are expected to be diagnosed by cancer in 2015 [1]. Among these diagnosed cases, about 589,430 patients are expected to die from cancer . In addition, 10380 children are also expected to be diagnosed with cancer in 2015 and 1250 will die. The annual increase in the diagnosis of cancer and the mortality of certain types of cancer are leading causes for the study of cancer therapeutics.

The most common type of cancer diagnosed in men is prostate cancer, whereas the most common type of cancer diagnosed in women is breast cancer [1]. However, there are three more kinds of cancers that are commonly occurring in both genders beside breast and prostate such as lung, pancreas, and colorectal cancers. The survival of patients differs based on the type of cancer and gender. However, from a statistical viewpoint, the lifespan probability for men is usually longer than it is for women. Also, the occurrence of cancer depends on race and ethnicity. Non-Hispanic black men seem to be the most prone subpopulation diagnosed with cancers, whereas Asian/Pacific Islander men are the least [1]. Possible reasons for this disparity of cancer incidence between various races could be due to different genetic backgrounds. Also, the socioeconomic status of a subpopulation may play a major role due to the lack of early detection and lack of access to the advanced clinical approaches. For the past two decades, the rate of cancer related deaths has been reduced by ~25%.

1.3 Colorectal cancer:

Colorectal cancer, sometimes called colon carcinoma, is one of the most common types of cancer in both men and women globally. The most recent statistics have indicated that about 1.2 million new cases are being discovered and almost 600,000 deaths by colorectal cancer per year worldwide [2]. Colorectal cancer incidence in Europe and North America is higher than Africa and some parts of Asia [3]. Also, there is an increasing trend of the incidence of colorectal cancer in other countries such as Spain, East Asia, and Eastern Europe due to what is so-called the "western lifestyle" [4]. The mortality associated with colorectal cancer has been decreasing in United States and Europe due to the early detection and improved treatment. Unlike other types of cancers, there is no single or common risk factor for colorectal cancer. Several studies have shown many factors that may lead to colon carcinoma beside age and gender such as family

history [5], obesity [6], inflammatory bowel disease [7], smoking [8], and excessive intake of alcohol [9]. The more risk factors the person has, the greater risk of developing colon cancer.

Colon cancer is usually preceded by the formation of noncancerous polyps coating the inside layer of the colon. These polyps can be categorized into different types, and the type most likely to develop into cancer is the adenomatous polyps. The management and treatment of colon cancer include surgery, chemotherapy, and radiation under certain circumstances such as rectal cancer. Although colorectal cancer could be managed by surgery and chemotherapy during early stages, the late stage of this disease is somehow resistant to current therapeutics. In the last years, the use of bevacizumab, aflibercept, cetuximab, and panitumumab to target VEGF-related pathways and EGFR, repectively, has improved the therapeutic outcomes in colon cancer patients [10]. Nevertheless, the prognosis of these patients is still poor due to the existence of primary and/or development of acquired resistance mechanisms. Mechanisms of resistance to these targeted therapy agents including mutations in KRAS, BRAF, and NRAS genes [11-14]. Thus, the choice of appropriate therapeutic regimens depends on the stage of the disease, age of the patient, comorbidities, and extent of disease. For example, in patients with distant metastases, combination therapy of vascular endothelial growth factor inhibitor (bevacizumab) and epidermal growth factor receptor inhibitor (cetuximab) and kinase inhibition (regorafenib) has increased the survival rate to more than 20 months in some cases [15]. Also, unresectable metastasized tumor cells at the time of diagnosis became resectable after intensive combination therapy [16]. However, treatment of colorectal cancer patients with combinational chemotherapeutic agents is associated with severe side effects such as neuropathy, severe diarrhea, mucositis, and hair loss, especially since most patients are elderly. Hence, searching for new effective anticancer agents is necessary to overcome these major side effects.

1.4 DNA repair:

A study by Theodor Boveri in 1902 suggested that the chromosomal structure of cancer cells is abnormal [17]. Alterations in chromosomal structure "mutations" were defined later as genomic instability, which is considered one of the main characteristics of solid tumors [18]. It is noteworthy to mention that the types of mutated genes affect the response of tumor to therapy [19-20].

Due to the potential for tumor development arising from genomic instability, cellular systems are programmed to maintain genomic integrity using different and sometimes overlapping DNA repair mechanisms (i.e. the DNA damage response (DDR). The repair of DNA lesions generally involves the following components: recognition of damaged site, accumulation of DNA repair enzymes and end processing, DNA synthesis and resolution, and ligation. In addition, mechanisms of DNA repair include base excision repair (BER), nucleotide excision repair (NER), double-strand breaks (DSBs) repair, mismatch repair, and reversal repair.

In base excision repair (BER), the damaged nucleic bases are excised and substituted by the newly synthesized bases [21]. The process of base excision repair (BER) is highly regulated by two enzymes poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase 1 and 2 (PARP1 and PARP2). In addition to the single-base repair mechanism, another single-strand repair mechanism has been identified and characterized, that is termed nucleotide excision repair (NER) [22]. The nucleotide excision repair (NER) usually occurs during transcription and the damaged bases is detected by RNA polymerase whose progression is blocked by the distortion of the DNA double helix. In nucleotide excision repair (NER), not only the damaged bases but also several surrounding undamaged bases are excised by Excision repair cross-complementing protein 1 (ERCC1), followed by the synthesis of new sequences by DNA polymerase as in the normal DNA

replication process. Another important repair pathway is called mismatch repair [23], in which the repair of misplaced nucleotides occurs. During normal DNA replication, some nucleotides may mistakenly be added to the wrong site, forming a mismatched pair. The mispairing of nucleotides may result in distortion of the DNA double helix structure, which is considered as another form of DNA lesion. Two crucial proteins involved in the repair of mispaired DNA are MSH2 and MLH1.

In addition to the single-strand breaks (SSBs), double-strand breaks (DSBs) are also generated when cells are exposed to radiation, radiomimetic drugs, or topoisomerase inhibitors [24]. In the field of cancer therapy, induction of DSBs is meant to halt proliferating cancer cell growth. However, radiation and radiomimetic drugs can harm normal cells as well, but due to the proper repair mechanisms in normal cells, these injuries to DNA are perfectly repaired. There are two different mechanisms that contribute to the repair of DSBs: homologous recombination (HR) and non-homologous end joining (NHEJ). The differences between these two pathways lie in the genetic distinction, accuracy of repair, and the requirement for a sister chromatid to pursue repair. The NHEJ pathway can occur during all phases of the cell-cycle as it does not require homology, but at the same time it is less accurate than HR. NHEJ is initiated when the site of damage become recognized by the binding of two heterodimeric subunits of KU, KU70 and KU80, at the edges of DNA damage site [25]. The binding of KU subunits allows for the recruitment of the catalytic subunit DNA-PKcs, forming a holoenzyme called DNA-PK [26]. After formation of the DNA-PK holoenzyme, the subtype of histone H2AX become phosphorylated by DNA-PK at serine residue 139 to form γ -H2AX foci, an indicator of a DNA damage site. The auto-phosphorylation of DNA-PK along with other phosphorylating enzymes facilitates the disassociation of DNA-PK from the site of damage and allows other DNA repair

factors to bind. One of the stages of NHEJ is DNA end processing. In this process, damaged nucleotides are replaced by polymerases (pol μ and pol λ) to create ligatable DNA ends [27]. After formation of the ligatable DNA ends, a ligation complex consisting of DNA Ligase IV, X-ray cross complementing 4 (XRCC4), and XLF (cernunos) mediate the final step ligating the DNA ends to restore the DNA integrity.

The second pathway of DSBs is homologous recombination repair (HRR). This pathway is genetically distinguished from NHEJ, as it requires a sister chromatid to function as a template. Thus, the HR repair pathway occurs most likely in S and G2 phases where DNA replication occurs and template DNA is available, which make HR repair much more accurate than NHEJ [28-29]. Unlike other DNA repair pathways, the DNA ends initially resected [30]. Resection of DNA ends allow for the search for the required homology to start the process of HR repair. The resection of DNA ends is mediated through a complex called MRN composed of different proteins including MRE11-RAD50-NBS1 [30]. This complex is recruited at the DNA damage site and cooperates with CtIP to start resection [31-32]. The final result of resection enzyme will end up in forming single-stranded 3' extensions. The formation of these single-stranded regions allow for the binding of heterotrimeric complex called replication protein A (RPA), which has high affinity to the single strand break sites that occur during normal replication [33]. RPA protein complex will be then substituted by RAD51 recombinase, in a step that requires other mediator proteins such as RAD51 paralogs and (BRCA2) to form RAD51 nucleoproteins [30]. Many enzymes are involved in the regulation of RAD51 filament formation either positively facilitating the binding such as RAD51 paralogs and BRCA2, or negatively such as BLM and RTEL1 that activate the dissociation process of RAD51 nucleoproteins [34]. As the RAD51 nucleoprotein filaments have been formed, the RAD51 invades the intact double strand DNA of

the sister chromatid of the exact homology forming a synapse complex named displacement loop (D-loop), and starts elongating the DNA strand at the 3'-end. To continue the step of elongation, RAD51 in the invading strand has to be removed by RAD54 and its partner RAD54B in order to expose the 3'-OH for priming [35]. At this point, HRR can take different pathways to continue the process of repair. The first route, which is the most frequent route, is called synthesis-dependent strand annealing (SDSA), in which the elongation of the invading strand at 3'-end continues over a limited distance is then followed by the re-ligation with its original DNA strand in a process called (non-crossover). The other route is more complex and involves formation of double Holliday Junctions (dHJ). The repair of DSB by this specific route will require some resolving enzymes such as GEN1 and MUS81/EME1 that lead to the resolution of Holliday junctions and ultimately the repair of the DSB [36-38]. This step may ultimately lead to crossover or non-crossover, depending on the resolving enzymes involved of the double Holliday junctions.



Lord C. J & Ashworth A. The DNA damage response and cancer therapy. *Nature* **481**, 287–294 (19 January 2012)

1.5 DNA repair and carcinogenesis:

One of the most consistent features of cancer cells is their genomic instability [39]. Colorectal carcinoma cells are known to be deficient in their ability to repair newly formed errors during DNA replication due to the lack of mismatch repair genes, MLH and MSH [23]. Similarly, other tumors have shown defects in other DNA repair pathways. For example, integrated analysis of around 500 samples of high-grade serous ovarian adenocarcinoma revealed that homologous recombination was defective in nearly half of these samples [40]. Previous reports have suggested that formation of neoplastic tissues is associated with an elevation of the DNA damage marker yH2AX foci (a histone phosphorylation event that occurs on chromatin surrounding a DSB), possibly due to defective DNA damage responses (DDR) [41-42]. One hypothesis proposes that cancer development is through the activation of oncogenes such as MYC and RAS [41, 43-44]. The activation of oncogenes leads to formation of many replication forks in order to enhance the proliferation of precancerous cells. Those replication forks may rapidly stall, collide, and form DSBs, leading to the activation of DDR. In precancerous tissues, it is thought that major DNA repair proteins, such as p53 and ATM, are still efficient and contribute to the repair of these replication forks collapses. When those proteins become mutated or inactivated, the cells may replicate with some ineffectively repaired DNA lesions [45].

1.6 Radiation

In 1895, a German scientist discovered X-ray as a new useful clinical tool to treat cancer. A few years later, Marie Curie, who won the second Nobel prize, established her research into radiation oncology and improved the usefulness of radiation as a therapeutic agent for cancer treatment. During the last century, radiotherapy went through various stages of development as it became one of the most important modalities in cancer therapy beside surgery and chemotherapy. In fact, radiotherapy accounts for about 40% of cases of cure of cancer [46]. Furthermore, approximately 50% of the cancer patients will undergo radiotherapy during their treatment course [47-48]. Although it is highly used in clinic, the cost of radiotherapy composes only 5% out of the total cost of cancer therapy [49]. Therefore, radiotherapy remains a highly cost effective modality in cancer treatment.

The mechanism of action of ionizing radiation is through forming ions and depositing energy inside the cells of tissues that radiation passes through in order to kill these cells or to damage their genetic materials, leading to cell death. Radiation toxicity is mediated through formation of ions accompanied with application of high energy in the cells it passes through. This high-energy deposition results in instability of the genetic materials (DNA), and may lead to cell death [50]. The main goal of radiotherapy is to maximize the dose to the cancerous tissues with minimum damage to the normal cells adjacent to them. Generally, normal cells are more efficient in repairing their damaged DNA than cancer cells [48]. Several tumors have been found to have mutations in their recombinational DNA repair [51-52]. In some tumors, mutations in major proteins in recombination repair make them sensitive to DSBs, whereas in normal cells such a mutation is absent and will not affect repair. Thus, radiotherapy is useful in the treatment of cancer.

When using ionizing radiation, single- and double-strand breaks can be formed. Due its lethality, DSBs, which are breaks in the phosphodiester backbone in both strands within 10 base pairs or less, are considered to be the toxic lesions induced by ionizing radiation [53-54]. In addition, radiation-induced DSBs generally occur at the 3'end [55], and the number of formed DSBs increases linearly with the extent of dose of radiation [56]. Also, the complexity of the induced DSB depends on the transcription activity of the DNA; wherein the relaxed DNA, the DNA damage is more complexed and sophisticated [57-58]. Generally, promptly-induced DSBs or radiation-induced DSBs are commonly repaired by NHEJ [51, 59]. However, the majority of radiation-induced DSBs are joined within few hours whereas ~20% seem to persist for more than a day, probably due to the complexity of these lesions [60-62]. Thus, the higher the dose of radiation, the more persistent foci being formed, which eventually lead to cell death.

1.7 Autophagy

"Autophagy" is a Greek word that means "self-eating", which is a catabolic process by which the cells can catabolize and reuse its damaged organelles and misfolded proteins [63]. The process of autophagy begins when parts of cytoplasm and other organelles are sequestered within a double-membraned structure called the autophagosome. During autophagy, cellular constituents that need to be recycled are collected into the autophagosomes selectively by autophagy adaptors (SQSTM1/p62, NBR1, NDP52 and optineurin) [63-64]. This formed autophagosome fuses with lysosomes to construct another enclosed compartment called the autolysosome. Inside the autolysosomes, proteins are degraded by hydrolases and recycled to be reused by the cell [64-65]. The process of autophagy is very important during metabolic stresses to either provide the cell with the energy or to provide basic building blocks to synthesize new molecules. At the molecular level, autophagy is highly regulated by different proteins known as autophagy-regulating genes (ATGs), which control the formation of the phagophore, elongation of the membrane, and formation of autophagosome. The first step of autophagy in eukaryotic cells involves the activation of a complex protein known as ULK1 [66]. The isolated phagophore is then regulated by other proteins called phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase (PI3K) and Beclin 1 that control the shape and the closure of the autophagosomes. Also, this protein complex PI3K – Beclin1 generates phosphatidylinositol 3-phosphate (PI3P) to then recruit PI3P-binding proteins WIPI1/2 and two ubiquitin-like conjugation systems ATG12–ATG5-ATG16L and LC3-PE [67]. At the final step, newly formed autophagosomes fuse with lysosomes to form autolysosomes in a step that requires Rab GTPases and LAMP2 [68]. Inside the autolysosomes, proteins are degraded by hydrolases and recycled to be reused by the cell [65].





1.8 Senescence

Senescence, or aging, is generally defined by the inability of somatic cells to proliferate and divide, while remaining alive and metabolically active. In 1961, Hayflick and Moorhead first

hypothesized that somatic cells have a so-called "Hayflick limit", which means that somatic cells have limited replicative capacity [69]. During replication, telomeres become gradually shortened at every cellular division due to the lack of a telomere maintenance mechanism. Consequently, somatic cells with short telomeres undergo replicative senescence. In contrast, malignant cells are capable of undergoing an infinite number of divisions due to the expression of the telomerase enzyme, which maintains the length of telomeres and immortalizes cancer cells. Although the vast majority of cancer cells express telomerase in order to have an infinite lifespan, senescence could be triggered in those cells in response to chemotherapeutic and radiotherapeutic modalities [70].

The induction of replicative senescence is generally thought to be a consequence of telomere attrition. When the telomere is shortened to the end, the telomeric caps at the ends of DNA become compromised. Once the telemeric ends are exposed, the cell recognizes it as a DNA damage site, and consequently activates the DNA damage response (DDR). The activation of DDR is initiated when ATM kinase is first activated, followed by the subsequent activation of p53 and then p53 downstream targets, most importantly p21 [71]. Induction of DNA damage in cancer cells may result in accelerated senescence through the ATM kinase -p53 - p21 pathway but is not thought to be associated with telomere shortening [72-73].

The induction of accelerated senescence is not fully understood but many reports suggested that it could be induced under any condition of stress through two pathways: p14ARF/p53/p21 pathway and INK4/CDK/pRb pathway [74-75]. In the first pathway, the protein p14ARF acts upstream of MDM2, a negative regulator of the tumor suppressor p53 by ubiquitination. The activation of p14ARF indirectly activates the tumor suppressor p53 and its downstream target CDK inhibitor p21, leading to growth arrest and promotion of senescence [76]. The other

pathway involves the activation of p16INK4a, which inhibits the cyclin-dependent kinases (CDKs). Inhibition of CDKs in turn leads to dephosphorylation of pRb by PP1 phosphatase [77]. Activation of pRb by dephosphorylation inhibits the E2F activity, which is essential for the cell cycle progression and proliferation [78]. Cross-talk between those two pathways may occur through the inhibition of cyclin-dependent kinases (CDKs) activity by p21, which then leads to the activation of pRB.

1.9 Significance and Background

Significance

Radiotherapy is used along with other modalities such as surgery, chemotherapy, and immunotherapy to either shrink tumors before surgery or kill surviving tumor cells post surgery. Treatment of cells with radiation leads to multiple forms of cell death such as apoptosis, autophagy, mitotic catastrophe, and necrosis [79]. Although radiation (and chemotherapy) may induce different modes of cell death, recurrence of cancer may occur. Unfortunately, the recurrent cancers generally show lower sensitivity to the conventional anticancer agents than the original tumors [80-82]. In response to treatment, tumor cells can also undergo a form of growth arrest that is termed stress-induced senescence. Although anticancer drugs and ionizing radiation frequently cause senescence of cells, it is not necessary that these cells are going to undergo cell death due to several reasons. First, senescence may be permissive for DNA damage repair and subsequent proliferation of cells after exposure to chemotherapeutic agents or radiation. Second, senescence may allow treated cells to upregulate certain enzymes in order to inactivate the anticancer agents either by upregulating a drug-metabolizing enzyme or effluxing the out of the targeted cell via some transporters. Third, the dose that is used to induce senescence or the time of cellular exposure to anticancer agents is not enough to enforce cells to undergo cell death; in

other words it is nonlethal doses for the tumor cells whereas increasing the dose could be harmful to normal cells. Fourth, some cancerous cells that lack the activity of proteins involved in senescence might escape the induced senescence and proliferate again.

It has been shown that DNA damage can also induce cells to undergo a state of senescence associated with autophagy [83-85]. Autophagy can function as a pro-survival mechanism or as pro-death mechanism, depending on the agents used and the experimental systems [86-88]. The relationship between autophagy and the DNA repair system is unclear, but several studies showed that autophagy might play a role during exposure to DNA damaging agents. Disruption of autophagy by bafilomycin A1, an autophagy inhibitor, sensitized glioma cells to the alkylating agent telmozolamide by inducing apoptosis [89]. However, 6-thioguanine-induced autophagy enhanced the survival of human colorectal and endometrial cells, indicating that autophagy may also play a protective role against DNA damage [90]. Robert et al have recently found that autophagy and protein acetylation are important in DNA damage repair via activating check points and influencing homologous recombination repair (HRR) [91]. Another study has also shown that PARP-1 might link the response of DNA damage to autophagy through the depletion of ATP and (NAD+), which may indicate that a cytoprotective autophagy was promoted to supply the cell with energy [92]. Also, interference with autophagy led to an impaired DNA repair system according to another study [93]. On the other hand, human malignant glioma cells were shown to undergo autophagic cell death upon the inhibition of DNA dependent protein kinase catalytic subunit (DNA–PKcs), a protein involved in non-homologous end joining [94]. Furthermore, inhibition of DNA-PKcs in resistant prostate cancer cells radiosensitizes these cells by inducing autophagy [95]. It seems likely that autophagy has an important function in the enhancement of DNA repair system in the cells during exposure to genotoxic stress, but the role

of autophagy may differ according to the status of DNA repair. Thus, it is of importance to study the kinetics of DNA repair during the use of DNA damaging agents along with autophagy inhibitors and address whether autophagy would assist DNA-damaged cells to retain their capacity for proliferation.

In addition, some studies have demonstrated that senescence is also induced upon exposure to a DNA-damaging agent such as radiation, suggesting that DNA damage mediates senescence [96-97]. It has been generally thought that senescence is an irreversible process whereby cells lose their capacity to grow, but studies have shown that telomerase enzyme can be reactivated in replicative senescence and by then cells can immortalize [98]. Similar to the telomere-associated foci of replicative senescence, it has been shown that persistent foci lead to senescence [99]. In this study, high doses of IR and Bleomycin showed an increase in the number of DNA damage foci and the majority of the foci were transient, which disappeared within 24 hours posttreatment; however some persistent foci remained for months. Therefore, the repair of these persistent DSBs in senescent cells may result in recovery and regrowth of senescent cells. The basis for the recovery of senescent cells is still unknown but it is of particular importance to our proposed work that studies have indicated that senescent cells can repopulate after exposure to chemotherapeutic agents and radiation [96, 100-102]. One primary aim of this project was to understand the contribution of autophagy to the induction of DNA repair, and the extent of persistent DNA-damage foci that are required to lead to senescence. In addition, this work was designed to investigate whether radiation-induced autophagy and radiation-induced senescence play a cytoprotective function by which cells overcome the persistent DNA damage and recover.

Background:

Radiotherapy is one of the most widely used anti-tumor strategies. Radiotherapy can be delivered to the tumor by two different ways, externally and internally. In the external delivery, radiation is administered from outside the body to the site of interest. The internal radiation delivery is through targeting the tumor from inside the body by using catheters seeded with radioactive materials. However, the response of tumors to radiation varies, where in some types of cancers, radiation is quite effective while other tumors show resistance to radiation. For example, treatment with radiation after surgery or along with chemotherapy significantly reduces recurrence and improves the outcomes of breast and head and neck cancer therapy, respectively [103-104]. On the other hand, several types of cancers such as glioblastoma and lung cancer show high resistance to radiation, even in combination with chemotherapeutics, and recurrence is common within a few years after therapy [105-107].

DNA damage and autophagy. Unlike apoptosis, radiation-induced autophagy can result in either survival or death. A number of studies have shown that autophagy can mediate the action of some therapeutics [108-109]. Cells that undergo autophagy are characterized by enlarged and swollen nuclei accompanied with formation of vacuoles in the cytoplasm [110]. The relationship between DNA damage and autophagy is still unclear, but many studies have shown that DNA-damaging agents promote autophagy [111-116].

One of the mechanisms of toxicity of radiation is through production and accumulation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) that cause oxidative stress and lead to autophagy via oxidizing damaged DNA [117-119]. However, inhibition of chemotherapy and radiation-induced autophagy often (but not always) promotes DNA damage-induced apoptosis, which indicates that autophagy functions as a protective mechanism against DNA damage-induced apoptosis [92,

120-122]. Another mechanism by which radiation may lead to the promotion of autophagy is through poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase-1 (PARP-1). When cells undergo DNA damage (DDR), particularly SSBs, the activated nuclear PARP-1 consumes NAD+ and depletes ATP. This energetic disturbance will lead eventually to the activation of AMPK and subsequent autophagy regulating enzymes [92, 123].

One of the proteins that is upregulated in response to DNA damage is ATM, which is regulated by FOXO3a [124]. Both ATM and FOXO3a control autophagy via downregulation of the mTORC1 pathway and transcription of autophagy-regulating proteins [125-130]. Other studies have shown that autophagy can be mediated by p53 through transcriptional activation of DRAM (damage-regulated autophagy modulator) [131-132]. Therefore, p53-induced autophagy may become involved in the growth arrest and the repair of damaged DNA. All of these observations suggest that autophagy plays an essential role in the DNA repair system.

DNA damage and senescence. Senescence occurs as a result of oncogenic stress, DNA damage, or cytotoxic drugs [133]. Senescence can be telomere-dependent or –independent, in which cells remain metabolically active. Telomeres are gradually lost in each S phase of cell cycle, resulting in loss of DNA at the very end of chromosomes. Also, some cells lack the ability to reactivate telomerase, the enzyme responsible for the addition of DNA sequence repeats at the end of chromosomes [134-135]. Existence of erosions at telomeric sites leads to the generation of a persistent DNA damage response and growth arrest [136-138]. In addition, non-telomeric DNA breaks can induce senescence and growth arrest via persistent DNA damage response [139]. Ionizing radiation can cause DNA damage directly by producing single- and double-strand breaks or indirectly through generating reactive oxygen species (ROS) in the cells. Although the

majority of DNA breaks become repaired upon induction of DNA repair pathways, many DNA damage foci appear to be persistent [99]. It is yet unclear why these foci do not undergo DNA repair as other bulk of double-strand breaks (DSBs), but it could be either due to the repression of DNA repair system in the cells or due to the unique properties that persistent foci have.

The early step of detection of DNA damage repair is via the complex MRN (MRE11, RAD50, NBS1) that act as sensors for DSBs. This complex recruits and activates ATM and ATR protein kinases, which in turn connect signaling pathways between DNA damage response and senescence via activating Chk1, Chk2, and p53 [140-141]. In the case of complicated and non-repairable DSBs, cells may either undergo apoptosis or senescence [142-143]. Since apoptosis is known as a programmed cell death, the ability of DNA-damaged cells to avoid apoptosis and enter a state of senescence may indicate that senescence could act as a permissive mechanism for persistent DNA damage foci to be eventually repaired.

Chapter 2: Poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) Inhibitors (Overview).

2.1 Introduction (Function and Structure):

Poly(ADP-ribosyl)ation, or the so-called (PARylation), is a post-translational modification process in which proteins are catalyzed by a family of polymerase enzymes called Poly(ADPribose) polymerase (PARP). The main function of these enzymes is to detect the site of singlestrand breaks (SSBs) and recruit the required enzymes of single-strand break (SSB) repair pathway or base-excision repair (BER) to remove the induced breaks. The immediate response of PARP enzymes could be due to metabolic, chemical, or radiation-induced single-strand breaks (SSBs). When single-strand breaks (SSBs) are formed, PARP enzyme detects the site of damage, binds to the DNA strand, and initiates the repair process via the synthesis of a poly (ADP-ribose) chain (PAR), as a sign of single-strand break [144]. After the detection step, other repairing enzymes can be recruited such as DNA ligase III, DNA polymerase β , and X-ray crosscomplementing gene 1 (XRCC1) to continue repair steps [145]. Once repair is complete, poly(ADP-ribosyl) chain is degraded by Poly(ADP-ribose) glycohydrolase (PARG) [146]. It is noteworthy to mention that Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD+) is a substrate to generate (ADP-ribose) monomers. Once PARP is overactivated, the energy source (ATP) of the cell will be depleted, and necrotic cell death will be the final fate. However, PARP enzymes have other functions inside the cellular systems such as expression of inflammatory genes and expression of genes required for the response of smooth muscles to the TNF [147-149]. In this work, we will discuss the role of PARP enzymes in the DNA damage response (DDR).

PARP enzymes are greatly conserved proteins. There are different forms of PARP enzymes known as PARP-1, PARP-2, and PARP-3, where the most abundant form is PARP-1 [150]. The

PARP-1 enzyme is composed of three main domains. The first domain is called the DNAbinding domain that consists of two zinc-finger motifs, which bind to DNA breaks [151]. The second domain is known as the automodification domain (16 kDa) that is located in the central part of the enzyme. The third domain of the enzyme is located at the C-terminal and named the catalytic domain (55 kDa), which has the most conservative part of the enzyme called "PARP signature" [152]. The last domain of the enzyme, the catalytic domain, is the region that has been targeted by a class of anti-cancer drugs called "PARP inhibitors".

2.2 Targeting PARPs and the usefulness of PARP inhibition in cancer therapy.

Knowing the main role of PARP enzymes in the repair of SSBs, it would be important to understand how interference with SSB repair sensitizes tumor cells to DNA damaging agents. When cells are exposed to a DNA damaging agent e.g. Ionizing radiation, single-strand breaks (SSBs) and double-strand breaks (DSBs) are formed. Treated cells will eventually repair the SSBs via PARP activation in the SSB repair pathway, and the DSBs via homologous recombination (HR) and non-homologous end joining (NHEJ). When cells are exposed to PARP inhibitors, cells will be unable to repair the SSBs. During DNA replication, the single-strand breaks (SSBs) would be converted to double strand breaks (DSBs). If cells have efficient DSB repair pathways, especially the homologous recombination (HR) that dominates during the DNA replication, the radiation- and PARP inhibition-induced DSBs would be repaired. Once cells have a mutation in one of the main proteins involved in the homologous recombination (HR) pathway, radiation- and PARP inhibition-induced DSBs would unlikely be repaired, and the deleterious lesion will affect cell growth. Thus, tumors that show aberrant mutations in BRCA1, BRCA2, and MRE11 proteins will likely show sensitivity to PARP inhibitors when combined with DNA damaging agents. Many types of cancer tumor show mutations in BRCA1 proteins such as breast, ovarian, prostate, and colorectal tumors [153-154]. Also, other types of tumors have abnormal BRCA2 function such as buccal cavity and pharynx, stomach, pancreas, melanoma of the skin, and gallbladder and bile ducts [155-156]. Therefore, inhibition of PARP activity is useful in tumors that show mutations in major proteins regulating the homologous recombination (HR) pathway.

In addition to the role of PARP enzymes in the repair of single-strand breaks, recent reports have demonstrated further functions of PARP enzymes in other DNA repair pathways. Both isoforms PARP-1 and PARP-3 were found to be activated and play roles during the formation of DSBs [157-160]. Emergence of PARP enzymes into the repair of double-strand breaks (DSBs) could be due to the necessity of DSB repair factors to bind to PARylated DSBs. Also, PARylation of repair factors may enhance the efficiency of repair and facilitate the repair of unrepaired DSBs [161].

Several studies have proven the involvement of PARP-1 activity in the homologous recombination (HR) pathway. During DNA replication, DNA replication forks stall when a single-strand break is still unrepaired, leading to fork collapse. The persistent unrepaired single-strand breaks (SSBs) results in double-strand breaks (DSBs). In this phase, homologous recombination is the overwhelming DSB repair pathway due to the existence of the sister chromatid. PARP-1 has been shown to activate MRE11, one of the proteins involved in HR pathway, via PARylation and recruit it during the DNA end-resection [160]. However, another report indicated that PARP-1 may limit the activation of several repair factors involved in NHEJ, favoring toward the homologous recombination (HR) pathway [162]. Another function of

PARPs, particularly PARP-1 and PARP-2, is related to the heterchromatin structure. During the induction of DNA damage, the nucleus undergoes heterochromatic structure of the nucleus is to ease the binding and accessibility of repair factors to DNA damage site. Some studies suggested that PARPs, in cooperation with other proteins, might be an essential factor in this step [163-164]. Taken together, PARPs show some connection with homologous recombination (HR) pathway.

In addition, some studies showed that PARPs may also enhance some repair factors in classical non-homologous end joining (NHEJ) pathway, but this is still in debate [165-168]. DNA-PK enzyme, an enzyme involved in the NHEJ pathway, was found to be PARylated, which then lead sto the enhancement of its kinase activity [169-170]. Also, a structural study has demonstrated formation of complex of (DNA-PKcs/PARP-1) [171]. More interestingly, recent evidence suggested that PARP-1 is involved in a newly discovered DNA repair pathway called "Alternative end joining". When the classical NHEJ pathway is defective, the cells tend to switch the repair mechanism to the backup mechanism, the alternative end joining. The evidence of involvement of PARP-1 in this pathway is based on the delay in end-joining in cells lacking Ku70 or Ku80 while inhibition of PARP [167, 172]. Furthermore, PARP-3 has also been shown to interact with some proteins involved in classical NHEJ pathway such as DNA–PKcs, Ku70, Ku80, and DNA ligase IV [173-174]. PARP-3 also participates in the balance of DNA resection step [175]. This study revealed that PARP-3 works as a protective factor against extensive end resection mediated by MRE11/CtIP proteins. Thus, targeting PARP-3 may result in a clastogenic effect in cancer cells.

In conclusion, all isoforms of PARP are essential components of DNA repair mechanisms. These proteins play a pivotal role in the maintenance of genetic stability and integrity. Loss of

PARPs activity deteriorates the attempt of DNA repair mechanisms to rescue in treated cells. The major functions of PARPs that have been discussed previously point toward the validity of inhibiting the actions of these enzymes in order to target cancer cells via enhancing the DNA damaging effect of currently used therapeutic modalities such as radiation and chemotherapy.

2.3 The pharmacokinetic properties of PARP inhibitors.

Preclinical studies of anticancer agents have poor prediction on the safety and effectiveness of the tested agents in cancer therapy. The high failure rate of many recently designed targeted agents for cancer treatment led to the development of new regulations named Expolratory Investigational New Drug (IND) Guidance to avoid the long-term clinical studies of these agents. Clinical phase 0 was designed to conduct a clinical study in limited number of patients using nontoxic doses for short period of exposure to better understand the pharmacokinetic distribution of these drugs. Pharmacokinetics is the study of drugs movement in the body systems including the absorption, distribution, metabolism, and elimination. The efficacy of drugs mainly depends on the pharmacokinetic characteristics in which the drugs distribute and become delivered to the site of action. In many in vitro studies, PARP inhibitors showed radio- and chemo-sensitizing effects in sub lethal concentrations [176-180]. Therefore, evaluating the clinical efficacy using clinically relevant doses is paramount to continue investigating the usefulness of these agents.

The first clinical trial conducted using a PARP inhibitor was Phase 0 to investigate the pharmacokinetic properties of ABT-888 [181]. In this study, different doses (10, 25, 50 mg) of ABT-888 were orally administered in patients with advanced malignancies, and blood samples as well as tumor biopsies were taken to measure the activity of this drug to inhibit PARP activity before and after the administration of the drug. Doses of 25 and 50 mg showed well tolerability

with an acceptable oral bioavailability of ABT-888 in these patients. Also, another PARP inhibitor, AZD 2281, was evaluated in Japanese patients as a Phase I clinical trial and the pharmacokinetic aspects of this drug were monitored. In line with the findings in western patients [182], the study in Japanese patients failed to identify any serious safety concerns [183]. In addition, the administration of a single or multiple doses of AZD 2281 (Olaparib) demonstrated a relatively rapid rate of absorption where the *Cmax* was achieved approximately after 2 hrs of treatment, and the half-life ranging from 7-11 hrs. This study strongly confirmed the previous findings of phase I clinical studies on Olaparib in a group of patients of different demographic background, indicating no inter-ethnic differences. Another technique was also used to study the distribution of PARP inhibitor (AZD 2281) scaffold with a borondipyrromethene (BODIPY) N-hydroxysuccinimide ester in single tumor cells in vivo to ensure the delivery of these inhibitors to the tumor site [184]. Data in this study clearly demonstrated the distribution of the drug into cancerous and normal cells, entering the nucleus, and binding to their target. On the other hand, a study conducted by Shiv K. Gupta1 et al, explained why the Temozolamide-resistant glioblastoma cell line does not show sensitivity with PARP inhibitor (ABT-888) in xenograft models compared to the invitro studies [185]. In fact, the distribution of PARP inhibitor in this particular resistant cell line in vivo does not reach the required concentration to sensitize tumor cells to Temozolamide. Another newly developed PARP inhibitor named Rucaparib was found to be retained in the cancer cells for long time and reaching an intracellular concentration 10 times higher than the extracellular [186].

In conclusion, the pharmacokinetic studies have demonstrated a tolerated and rapid distribution of some PARP inhibitors in both in vivo and phase 0 clinical trials. As we explained the importance of the potency of every single PARP inhibitor in the previous section, we here

discussed the importance of the delivery of PARP inhibitor sites. The data presented in different studies indicated that PARP inhibitors distribute easily in different types of tumors except few ones. Until now, there is no study compared between the pharmacokinetic properties of PARP inhibitors in human patients. Also, in the resistant glioblastoma cell line study, authors used one of the least effective PARP inhibitors, possibly due to poor pharmacokinetic issues. Thus, it would be very important to address whether potent PARP inhibitors would show similar pharmacokinetic properties or not.

2.4 The implications of PARP inhibitors in cancer therapy.

Since there has been a great deal of interest in the role of PARPs in the functionality of DNA repair pathways, several compounds have been synthesized in order to target this particular protein and potentiate the chemotherapeutic and radiotherapeutic approaches. The discovery of these synthetic lethal drugs was meant to interfere with the main function of PARP inhibitors and lead to the increase aggregates of unrepaired SSBs and DSBs. We would speculate that PARP inhibition would sensitize cells to radiotherapy and chemotherapy to an extent similar to PARP deletion. Surprisingly, several studies have indicated that PARP inhibition shows higher toxicity in wild-type cells when exposed to DNA damaging agents than PARP-1 – deficient mouse cells [187-189]. Also, PARP inhibitors were found to delay the repair of SSBs longer than PARP knock out cells [145]. This observation led to another question: would PARP inhibitors enhance chemo- or radio-sensitivity via more than pathway? Murai et al have addressed this question by trapping of PARP-1 and PARP-2 on DNA using clinical PARP inhibitors [190-191]. These studies have demonstrated that PARP inhibitors can exert their poisoning effect via two different

mechanisms. The first mechanism is through competition with NAD+ at NAD+ binding site, in which inhibitors show similar potency. The other mechanism is via inhibition of the PARylation activity of PARPs, which in turn lead to stronger binding of PARP to the DNA forming PARP-DNA complex. Different PARP inhibitors vary in their potency in forming PARP-DNA complexes, which explain the difference in toxicity between these drugs. For example, Niraparib (MK-4827) and Olaparib (AZD-2281) revealed stronger potency in trapping PARPs on DNA more than Veliparib (ABT-888).

Several anti-PARP drugs are currenty being investigated in the clinical trials, specifically Iniparib, olaparib, Niraparib, Rucaparib, BMN-673 and ABT-888 (Veliparib) [192]. Recently, Olaparib has been approved by the US food and drug administration (FDA) and European commission for the treatment of ovarian cancer as a combination therapy due to its limited toxicity [193]. Also, several studies suggested that PARP inhibition could be a useful approach in the treatment of prostate cancer tumors [194-195]. The promising results of utilizing PARP inhibitors as chemo- and radio-sensitizer agents led to the development of clinical trials of PARP inhibition along with other chemotherapeutic agents that leads to DNA damage including carboplatin, cisplatin, oxaliplatin; alkylating agents like Temozolomide and topoisomerase inhibitors [176, 196-199].

The topoisomerase-I enzyme is also an important target in cancer therapy. The main resistant mechanism by which cancer cells overcome the toxicity of Topotecan, an inhibitor of topoisomerase-I, is via PARylation of DNA damage by PARPs. Thus, adding PARP inhibitor along with Topotecan enhances the chemotherapeutic effect via antagonizing PAR formation [199]. Several chemotherapeutic medications are being tested in combination with PARP inhibitors as described in (www.clinicaltrials.gov).

The preclinical data strongly suggested that PARP inhibitors are promising chemo- and radio-sensitizer agents in multiple types of tumors. The main mechanism of these drugs was thought to be through interfering with SSBs repair. However, other studies have revealed that PARP inhibitors may form PARP-DNA complexes that lead to additional mechanism of cytotoxicity. Current clinical studies are being conducted in patients of different tumors including malignant glioma, head and neck, and breast cancers. Although the preclinical and early phases of clinical studies show the desired effect, it is necessary to perform extensive optimizations and characterizations of given doses and scheduled treatments to ensure the optimum therapeutic effect of the combination.

2.5 Drawbacks and limitations

Similar to other anti-cancer agents, development of resistance in cancer cells toward PARP inhibitors is possible. Some studies have reported that cancer cells may acquire resistance to PARP inhibitors via three possibilities: (i) upregulation of PgP transporter (ii) loss-of-function of PARP (iii) restoration of functional BRCA2 gene [200-201]. As is the case with other drugs, PARP inhibitors can be pumped out of the cell via PgP transporter. In addition, excessive inhibition of PARP may lead to loss of PARP expression, which in turn leads to resistance of the treated cells to PARP inhibitors to 100 fold resistance [200]. A third mechanism by which cells acquires resistance to PARP inhibitors is via a mutation in the BRCA2 gene that leads to retaining its activity and restoration of the open reading frame (ORF).

In addition, it is important to discuss the challenges that may negatively impact PARP inhibition use in cancer therapy. The major challenge in PARP inhibitors development is the

poor delivery of the drug to the tumor site due to certain pharmacokinetic properties of water insoluble inhibitors. However, PARP inhibitors are usually recommended to be used in combination with other chemotherapeutic drugs. Therefore, there is a possibility of development of drug-drug interaction between PARP inhibitors and the used drugs. Furthermore, this undesired possibility may affect the dosing and the timing of treatment. Thus, it would be of importance to optimize the doses and the timing of drugs administration to avoid the failure of treatment.

In summary, the approval of the first clinical PARP inhibitor opens a new era of anticancer therapy. Although initial pre-clinical and clinical data prove the efficacy of the used drugs, the resistance to PARP inhibitors is possible. From a clinical perspective, the possibility of sensitization to radiation (and chemotherapy) through the administration of PARP inhibitors to interfere with DNA repair continues to be an area of active inquiry [197, 202-204]. Interestingly, sensitization to radiation has been shown to lead primarily to an increase in senescence with minimal apoptosis [205-206]. Furthermore, the potential involvement of autophagy in radiation sensitization via PARP inhibition has not been investigated; this is relevant as autophagy and senescence have been shown to be closely associated responses in some studies [83, 207]. The primary aim of the current work was to understand the involvement of autophagy and senescence in the response to radiation-induced DNA damage, and the interplay between these responses and DNA repair by employing PARP inhibitors.

Chapter 3: Materials and methods

3.1 Cell lines.

HCT116 colon cancer cells were purchased from ATCC and HCT116 Ligase IV-deficient were kindly provided from Dr. Hendrickson laboratory [208]. HCT116 Ligase IV-deficient and Ligase IV proficient cells lines were maintained as subconfluent cultures in RPMI 1640 medium with 5% fetal bovine serum, 5% bovine calf serum, 2 mM L-glutamine, and penicillin/ (GIBCO Life Technologies, Gaithersburg, MD) and incubated at 37°C, 5% CO₂, in a humidified environment. In every experiment, cells were cultured under identical conditions and incubated overnight to allow for adherence prior to irradiation.

HCT116 *shCon*, HCT116 *shATG5*, and HCT116 *shATG7* cells lines were generated in our laboratory using bacterial stocks from Sigma Aldrich. A packaging mixture composed of Lipofectamine (Invitrogen, 11668–019), psPAX2 and pMD2.G packaging constructs (Addgene, 12260, 12259), and a vector carrying the genetic material were introduced into HEK 293 packaging cells. After two days, lentivirus was collected from the medium and used to infect the HCT116 cells. Infected cells were then maintained under puromycin (2 μ g/mL) as a selection marker.

3.2 Time course of radiation-induced effects on cell viability.

Cells were plated in 6-well plates (generally 200,000 cells/well) and allowed to adhere overnight. The next day, cells were treated with radiation and the number of viable cells was counted at indicated time points for 5 days. In case of co-administering a drug (PARP inhibitors, autophagy inhibitors, or Apoptosis inhibitor Z-VAD) with radiation, cells were pretreated with the drug 3 hours before radiation and drug was washed away 24 hr post radiation. At each time point, medium was removed and cells were washed one time with 1X PBS. 500 μ L of 0.25% trypsin was added to each well for harvesting and incubated for 5 minutes, then deactivated by 500 μ L of fresh medium, to make up 1 mL of cell suspension. Cells were collected in 1 mL conical tubes
(Eppendorf) and 10 μ L of cell suspension was added to 10 μ L of trypan blue, placed onto chamber slides of a hemacytometer (Hausser Scientific) and counted under a microscope.

3.3 Clonogenic survival assay.

200 cells were plated in 6-well plates and allowed to adhere overnight. After 24 h, cells were pre-incubated with the indicated drug for 3 h and then exposed to the indicated dose of radiation. The following day, drug-containing medium was removed, cells were washed and supplemented with fresh medium that was replaced every other day for two weeks. On the day of staining, cells were fixed with 90% methanol for 10 min, and then stained with 1% crystal violet for another 10 minutes. Colonies were then washed with PBS three times to eliminate excessive crystal violet staining and counted manually.

3.4 Assessment of autophagy by acridine orange staining.

50,000 cells were seeded in 6-well plates, permitted to adhere overnight and exposed to radiation the following day. At the various time points, medium was removed and cells washed once with 1X PBS. Acridine orange dye was diluted in PBS in a ratio of 1:10,000 (prepared in the dark), added to cells for staining, and incubated for 15 min. Dye-containing medium then was aspired, plates were washed with 1X PBS and fresh medium was added. Photographs were taken with an Olympus 1X 70 microscope and an Olympus SC 35 camera.

The cell population positively stained with acridine orange was quantified by flow cytometry. Treated cells were trypsinized, collected, and centrifuged at speed of 1500 rpm for 5 min. Supernatant was removed and pellets were resuspended in 990 μ L of 1X PBS. The cell suspension was filtered through standard flow cytometry 40 micron filter (BD Falcon). A 10:1000 dilution of acridine orange in 1X PBS was prepared (in the dark) and protected from light until ready for use. For flow cytometry, 10 μ L of acridine orange solution was added to each sample to make the dilution of 1:10000 and allowed to mix for 15 min. Acridine orange is excited at wavelength 525 nM for green flourescence and 620 nM for red flourescence.

3.5 Transfection of HCT116 cells with RFP-LC3.

The RFP-LC3 construct was generated by the Tolkovosky laboratory [208]. 1×10^{6} HCT-116 cells were collected in a pellet, centrifuged, and resuspended with the construct in 100 µL of the Amaxa Nucleofector Kit V. A microgram of the RFP-LC3 vector was added to the suspension. The cell suspension was collected in a cuvette, and then placed in nucleofector device to run program D-032. 500 µL of medium was added to the transfected cells and to transfer them to a Petri dish where cells were maintained under Gentamycin (8 ng/mL) to maintain the stable transfection.

3.6 Cell cycle analysis.

At the indicated time points, cells were trypsinized, collected, and centrifuged at 1500 rpm. The supernatant was aspired, pellets washed in PBS and recentrifuged at 1500. The supernatant was removed, 0.2 mL of PBS was added and pellets were gently mixed to form a single cell suspension. 1.8 mL of cold 70% ethanol was added gradually into the cell suspension; cells were vortexed, centrifuged, ethanol was aspired, and cells were washed with PBS prior to addition of a staining solution (0.1% (v/v) Triton-X-100 in 10 mL PBS, 2 mg of DNase free RNase A, and 0.2 mL of the propium iodide stock (1 mg/ml)) 2 hours prior to flow cytometry.

3.7 Evaluation of senescence by β -galactosidase staining.

 β -Galactosidase staining was utilized as a marker of senescence. Cells were washed once with 1X PBS and fixed with 2% formaldehyde/ 0.2% glutaraldehyde for 5 min, again washed with PBS and finally incubated overnight in a staining solution composed of 1 mg/mL 5-bromo-4-chloro-3-inolyl- β -galactosidase in dimethylformamide (20 mg/mL stock), 5 mM potassium ferricyanide, 150 mM NaCl, 40 mM citric acid/sodium phosphate, 2 mM MgCl2, at pH 6.0 in CO2 at 37°C. The following day, cells were washed twice with PBS and pictures were taken.

For β -Galactosidase detection by flow cytometry, cells were washed and incubated for 1 h in complete medium containing 100 nM of bafilomycin A1 to induce lysosomal alkalinization. After incubation, C₁₂FDG working solution was added to each well in amount to make the final concentration 33 μ M and incubation was continued for another 1 h. Medium was then aspired and cells were washed twice with PBS. Cells were harvested, collected by centrifugation at 1500 rpm, resuspended in PBS and analyzed by flow cytometry as above but with excitation at 490 nm and a 514 nm emission filter. C₁₂FDG is hydrolyzed by upregulated β -galactosidase enzyme and becomes fluorescent at wavelength of 500–510 nM.

3.8 Detection of *γH2AX* foci as a marker of DNA damage.

5,000 cells were seeded in 4-chamber coverglass slides (Lab-Tek II) and allowed to adhere overnight. On the following day, cells were irradiated and fixed with 4% formaldehyde for 5 min at indicated time points. Cells were washed with 1X PBS twice, incubated at room temperature in 0.05% trition-X for 15 minutes, washed, and incubated with 1X PBS containing 1% of BSA for 30 min to prevent non-specific binding of the antibody. Finally, cells were incubated in a 1:10 dilution of γ H2AX antibody (BD Pharmingen) in 1% BSA for 1 h. Images were taken using an LSM 700 confocal microscope (Zeiss).

Alternatively, for flow cytometry, cells were at harvested at the indicated time points, fixed with 90% ethanol and maintained at -20 °C until the day of experiment. Cells then were centrifuged at 3,000 rpm for 5 min and resuspended in 1% BSA for 30 min. γ H2AX antibody (BD Pharmingen) was added to the cells in a dilution of (1:200) and incubated at room temperature for 1 hr. Cells were then analyzed by flow cytometry at an excitation wavelength of 488. Raw data were normalized according to the intensity of control samples (normalized mean intensity = intensity of the sample / the intensity of the correspondent control sample within the same experiment)

3.9 Evaluation of DNA damage extent by the comet assay.

200,000 cells were plated in 6 cm² dishes and treated as indicated. After 72 hours, cells were gently scraped from the plates and 100,000 cells were mixed with molten LMAgarose (at 37 °C) at a ratio of 1:10 (v/v). The mixture of cells and LMAgarose was then pipetted onto Comet Slides (Trevigen) and incubated for 30 min at 37 °C. The slides were kept at 4 °C for 10 min prior to being immersed in Lysis Solution (Trevigen) overnight. On the following day, the slides were immersed in 1X Neutral Electrophoresis Buffer for 30 minutes at 4 °C, set onto an electrophoresis tray for 45 minutes and subjected to voltage at 1 volt per cm. Slides were then immersed in DNA precipitation solution for 30 minutes at room temperature, followed by 70% ethanol for another 30 min. Samples were dried at 37 °C for 30 min and stained with the working dilution of SYBR Green (Trevigen).

3.10 Evaluation of apoptosis.

Following the indicated treatments, cells were harvested at the indicated time points and collected on a cytospin slide, fixed with formaldehyde (4%) for 5 min and washed with 1X PBS twice. Slides were fixed with acetic acid/ethanol (1:2) for 5 min and washed twice with 1X PBS. For the terminal deoxynucleotidyl transferase dUTP nick end labeling (TUNEL) assay, cells were blocked with BSA (1 mg/ml for 30 min) at room temperature, washed twice in PBS, and incubated with enzyme mixture (terminal transferase, 25 mM CoCl₂, fluorescein-12dUTP) for 1 h at 37° to allow the enzymatic reaction. After washing with PBS, cells were stained with DAPI and images were taken using a fluorescence microscope.

For the PI/Annexin assay, adherent and non-adherent cells were harvested in Eppendorf tubes, and pellets resuspended in 100 μ L of binding buffer (BD Biosciences). 5 μ L of Annexin-FITC (BD Biosciences) and 5 μ L of PI at 10 μ g/mL (BD Biosciences) were added to cell suspension and incubated for 15 min in the dark at room temperature. 400 μ L of Annexin V binding buffer 1X

(BD Pharmingen) was added to each sample, and samples were analyzed by flow cytometry at 530 nM.

3.11 Western blotting.

At the indicated time points, cells were harvested and mixed with lysis buffer (1 M Tris-HCl, pH 6.8, 10% SDS) containing protease and phosphatase inhibitors (Sigma-Aldrich). Proteins were separated on 12% gels using SDS-PAGE and transferred onto nitrocellulose membranes. The membranes were blocked using nonfat dry milk and PBS for 30 min at room temperature, then incubated with the primary antibody overnight at 4°C. Primary antibodies used were anti-p62 (SQSTM1–Santa Cruz sc-28359), anti-β actin (Santa Cruz sc-47778), anti-ATG5 (Cell Signaling – 12994S), and anti-ATG7 (Cell Signaling – 8558S). All primary antibodies were used at a 1:1,000 dilution. The following day, membranes were incubated with correspondent secondary antibodies for 1h. Secondary antibodies used were goat anti-mouse IgG (Amersham, GE Healthcare) and monkey anti-rabbit IgG (Amersham, GE Healthcare). Membranes were then washed three times and bands were detected using enhanced chemiluminescence detection reagents (Pierce, Rockford, IL).

3.12 Statistical analysis.

Statistics were conducted using Statview statistical software (SAS Institute, Cary, NC). The data were expressed as means \pm S.E. Comparisons were made using two-way analysis of variance followed by the Bonferroni post hoc test. P values <0.05 were considered as statistically significant.

Chapter 4: Results:

4.1 Response of DNA repair-competent and DNA repair-deficient cell lines to radiation.

Radiation sensitivity in the HCT116 and the HCT116 Ligase-IV-deficient cell lines was determined by clonogenic survival. **Figure 1A** shows that HCT116 cells lacking Ligase IV were significantly more sensitive to radiation than the Ligase IV wild-type cells as the clonogenic survival was significantly decreased at lower doses of radiation compared to wild type cells. This finding is consistent with previous reports in the literature indicating that DNA repair-deficient cell lines are more sensitive to radiation than DNA repair-proficient cells [209-211].

Radiation sensitivity was further compared by performing temporal response studies in which the HCT116 and the HCT116 Ligase-IV deficient cell lines were exposed to a radiation dose of 2 Gy and viable cell number was monitored over time. **Figure 1B** shows that growth of the HCT116 cells was inhibited only transiently followed by relatively rapid recovery of proliferative capacity whereas radiation produced a sustained growth inhibition (with a slight decline in viable cell number between days 3 and 5) in the HCT116 Ligase IV-deficient cells.

The difference in sensitivity of the two cell lines to radiation is likely to be a consequence of the extent and persistence of DNA damage [211-212]. **Figure 1C** (staining with γ H2AX antibody) and **Figure 1D** (H2AX phosphorylation) indicate that the number of DNA damage foci in HCT116 Ligase IV (-/-) cells was increased compared to the Ligase IV proficient cells. That is, over a range of radiation doses, the extent of residual damage (i.e., γ H2AX staining) at 96 h was significantly higher in the Ligase IV-deficient HCT116 cells than in the Ligase IV-proficient cells. As an additional confirmation of the increased DNA damage, results of Comet assay experiments presented in **Figure 1E** show more extensive formation of tails in the HCT116 Ligase IV (-/-) cells compared to the HCT116 WT cells at low dose of radiation (2 Gy). Furthermore, cell cycle analyses indicated that nearly 45% of the HCT116 Ligase IV (-/-) cells were arrested at the G2/M phase in comparison to 20% of the HCT116 WT cells 72 hours after exposure to 2 Gy of radiation (**Figure 1F**).

4.2 Induction of autophagy and senescence by ionizing radiation in Ligase IV-proficient HCT-116 and Ligase IV-deficient HCT-116 cell lines.

We and others have reported that a primary response of tumor cells to radiation is autophagy [213-216]. **Figures 2A** presents images of irradiated cells stained with acridine orange, which is indicative of autophagy while **Figures 2B** provides quantification of the extent of autophagy over a range of radiation doses. While the extent of autophagy was significantly greater in the Ligase IV deficient cells compared to parental cells at lower doses of radiation, essentially the entire cell population had entered a state of autophagy for both cell lines at the higher doses.

As senescence has been closely associated with autophagy in a number of studies [83-84], the induction of senescence by radiation was also monitored. Both cell lines demonstrated physiological markers of senescence such as granulation, flattening, and spreading as well as β galactosidase staining, a hallmark of senescence (**Figure 2C**). In parallel with the findings relating to autophagy, senescence was more pronounced in the Ligase IV deficient cells compared to the Ligase IV proficient cells at the lower doses of radiation while higher doses yielded maximal senescent populations in both cell lines (**Figure 2D**). Although radiation-induced autophagy, senescence and persistent H2AX phosphorylation were greater in the HCT116 Ligase IV-deficient cells than in Ligase IV-proficient cells at the lower doses of radiation, the fraction of cells showing autophagy and senescence, at any given level of γ H2AX, was very similar for the two cell lines (**Supplementary Figures 1A and 1B**). **Supplementary Figure 1C** also indicates a direct correspondence between the extent of autophagy and senescence (as a function of the dose of radiation) in both HCT116 tumor cell lines. Thus, both senescence and autophagy correlate with, and are likely triggered by, persistent double-strand breaks.

4.3 The relationship between autophagy and senescence in irradiated cells.

Our studies are indicative of a close correspondence between the induction of autophagy and senescence by radiation in both the Ligase IV deficient and the Ligase IV proficient cell lines (**Supplementary Figure 1C**), which is also the case for oncogene and chemotherapy-induced autophagy and senescence [83-84]. To more rigorously investigate the potential association between autophagy and senescence in response to radiation, both cell lines were either preincubated with the pharmacological inhibitors of autophagy, chloroquine (5 μM) and bafilomycin (5 nM), for 3 h prior to irradiation, or infected with lentivirus to induce a knockdown of the essential autophagy factors ATG5 and ATG7. (**Supplementary Figure 2A**). **Supplementary Figures 2B and 2C** confirm that autophagy has been inhibited by chloroquine and bafilomycin in both cell lines based on the interference with radiation-induced degradation of p62/SQSTM1. Similarly, **Supplementary Figures 2D and 2E** confirm that autophagy has been inhibited by the genetic silencing approaches. **Figure 3** indicates that pharmacological and genetic inhibition of autophagy had no effect on the promotion of radiation-induced senescence in these cell lines, as the extent of senescence was essentially identical in the absence and presence of functional autophagy, strongly indicating that autophagy and senescence in response to radiation are dissociable. This has, in fact, proven to be the case for both oncogene-induced senescence and senescence induced by doxorubicin [83-84].

4.5 Cells induced to undergo autophagy/senescence by irradiation retain the capacity for proliferative recovery and are capable of repairing persistent double strand breaks (DSBs).

We have shown proliferative recovery after induction of senescence by radiation as well as doxorubicin in breast tumor cells [83, 96, 213, 216]. The HCT116 Ligase IV proficient and HCT116 Ligase IV deficient cells were exposed to radiation doses of 6 Gy and 3 Gy, respectively; cells were sorted based on staining with the senescence marker, C₁₂FDG, 96 hours post-radiation by flow cytometry (**Figure 4A and Figure 4B**). Both sub-populations (i.e., positively stained and negatively stained cells) were replated at subconfluent density. **Figure 4C** confirms that recovery occurs after radiation-induced autophagy and senescence in both the HCT116 Ligase IV-proficient and Ligase IV-deficient cells. These findings are consistent with studies where proliferative recovery was observed after irradiation of MCF-7 breast tumor cells [96, 213].

The capacity for proliferative recovery suggests that DNA repair is likely to be functional in the autophagy/senescent cells. To address this question, HCT116 cells were exposed to a dose of radiation (8 Gy) that induces ~75% of both autophagy and senescence; the cells were then allowed to undergo repair for 4 days, followed by re-irradiation with 4 Gy. Repair intensity were measured after 30 min, 3 h, 24 h, and 4 days based on γ H2AX cytometry. Four days after the first dose of radiation (8 Gy), the level of γ H2AX remained high. At the second dose of radiation (4 Gy), the intensity of γ H2AX was further elevated for 3 h. However, the intensity of γ H2AX was reduced by 24 and 96 h after the second dose, suggesting that, despite the persistence of initial DNA damage, these cells were still generally proficient in DNA repair capacity (**Figure 4D**, **left panel**). Similarly, HCT116 Ligase IV (-/-) were treated initially with 4 Gy, a dose that induces ~75% of senescence and autophagy, followed four days late by 2 Gy of radiation. **Figure 4D**, **right panel** indicates that even these ostensibly repair-incompetent cells show the capacity to repair the newly induced DNA damage.

4.6 Radiosensitization by PARP inhibitors correlates with increased autophagy and senescence, but not apoptosis.

There has been a great deal of interest in utilizing DNA repair inhibitors in combination with chemotherapeutic drugs and radiation to enhance the efficacy of cancer therapy. In the context of this work, it has been reported that radiation sensitization by PARP inhibitors is accompanied by increased senescence [206, 217]. Given the evidence for correspondence between autophagy and senescence in the current work, we proceeded to investigate whether sensitization by PARP inhibitors could be mediated through the promotion of autophagy as well as senescence. Two different PARP inhibitors, AZD-2281 (Olaparib) and MK-4827 (Niraparib), were utilized to investigate whether the PARP inhibitors could sensitize both Ligase IV deficient cells and Ligase IV proficient HCT116 cells to radiation. Figure 5A shows that PARP inhibitors conferred profound radiation sensitization in the Ligase IV-proficient HCT116 cells. However, while Ligase IV deficient cells were also sensitized, the degree of sensitization was clearly less than in the Ligase IV proficient cells. Temporal response data (Figure 5B) also showed a more pronounced radiosensitization in Ligase IV proficient than in the Ligase IV deficient cell lines when using equitoxic doses of radiation. As would have been expected, this sensitization was associated with an increase in DNA damage based on the intensity yH2AX formation (Figure 5C) and the Comet assay (Supplementary Figures 3A and 3B).

Sensitization to radiation by the PARP inhibitors is also associated with an increase in senescence. Quantification of the intensity of β -galactosidase staining by flow cytometry indicated that between 55-60% of the Ligase IV proficient HCT116 cells had entered a state of senescence when the PARP inhibitors were used in combination with radiation, whereas radiation alone induced ~20% senescence (**Figures 5D**, **left panel**, **and Supplementary Figure 3C**). Similarly, the HCT116 Ligase IV deficient cells showed an increase in the senescent population from less than 20% to between 45-55% when the PARP inhibitor was administered along with radiation (**Figure 5D**, **right panel**, **and Supplementary Figure 3D**). Consistent with the increased senescence, cell cycle analysis results demonstrated that ~45% of the population in both cell lines underwent growth arrest at the G2/M phase when cells were treated with the combination compared to ~ 20% when cells were exposed to radiation alone (**Supplementary Figure 3E**).

The combination of AZD-2281 or MK-4827 with radiation also resulted in increased autophagy. Quantification of the intensity of autophagy by flow cytometry showed an increase in the number of autophagic cells to 70-80% of the population for the combination treatment in the Ligase IV-proficient cells, whereas radiation alone promoted approximately 30% autophagy (**Figure 5E, left panel, and Supplementary Figures 4A and 4B**). Similarly, the HCT116 Ligase IV-deficient cells show an increase in the autophagic population to 75% when the PARP inhibitor was administered along with radiation compared to 35% when exposed to radiation alone (**Figure 5E, right panel and Supplementary Figure 4C**). Overall, the PARP inhibitors appear to produce comparable enhancement of H2AX phosphorylation, autophagy and senescence in wild-type and Ligase IV-deficient cells, but less radiosensitization of Ligase IV-deficient cells, particularly as measured by clonogenic survival.

Although co-treatment with PARP inhibitors enhanced the radio-sensitivity of HCT116 cells and HCT116 Ligase IV-deficient cells, it was critical to determine whether the cells would retain their proliferative recovery after the exposure to the combination treatment by monitoring cell viability over an extended period post treatment. **Figure 6** demonstrates that both cell lines recovered proliferative capacity on days 10, 15, and 20 post-treatment both in the case of radiation alone as well as when radiation was combined with the PARP inhibitors.

4.7 Lack of involvement of apoptosis in sensitization by PARP inhibitors in HCT116 cells

Use of PARP inhibitors has generally been shown to radiosensitize cells through the induction of senescence, but not apoptosis [206, 217-218]. To rule out the potential involvement of apoptosis in radiation sensitization, apoptotic cell death was monitored by Annexin V staining. **Supplementary Figure 5A** indicates that apoptosis is unlikely to be involved in sensitization of both cell lines to radiation by PARP inhibition as apoptosis was minimal and not increased by the PARP inhibitors. The minimal involvement of apoptosis in radiosensitization by PARP inhibition was confirmed by assessment of apoptosis 72 h post-treatment using the TUNEL assay (Supplementary Figures 5B and 5C). To further confirm these results, irradiated HCT116 cells were treated using the Pan Caspase Inhibitor Z-VAD-FMK (10 µM) and viable cell numbers were monitored over a period of five days. Supplementary Figure 5D shows that interference with apoptosis via inhibition of caspases did not interfere with radio-sensitization by the PARP inhibitors, indicating that apoptosis does not appear to be involved in mediating the observed effects. Consistent with these observations, cell cycle analysis demonstrated that administering PARP inhibitors along with radiation does not increase the sub-G1 population (data not shown), confirming that apoptosis is not occurring in cells exposed to radiation + PARP inhibitors.

4.8 Effects of autophagy inhibition on radiosensitization by PARP inhibition.

The studies presented above clearly show that autophagy was increased in association with senescence when PARP inhibitors are used in combination with radiation. Several studies, including our own, have demonstrated that autophagy can act as a cytotoxic or cytostatic process through which cells die or undergo prolonged growth arrest [213, 216, 219]. To address whether inhibition of autophagy would interfere with the radiosensitization by PARP inhibitors, HCT116 cell lines where autophagy was genetically silenced or pretreated with choroquine were exposed to radiation in the absence and presence of the PARP inhibitors. **Figures 7A, 7B, and Supplementary Figure 6** demonstrate that genetic interference with autophagy does not rescue either of the cell lines from radiosensitization by PARP inhibition, indicating that radiosensitization does not occur via the promotion of autophagy.

Figures and Legends

Figure 1

A.









C.



D.



Figure 1

E.



F.



Figure 1. Radiation responses of DNA-repair-proficient and Ligase IV deficient HCT116 cell lines. A. Radiosensitivity of HCT116 wt and HCT116 Ligase IV-deficient cells as determined by clonogenic survival (n=3). **B.** Impact of radiation on cell growth. Cells were exposed to 2 Gy of radiation and the number of viable cells was determined on days 0, 1, 3, and 5 (n=3). Graphs represent pooled data from three replicate experiments. **C.** Confocal microscope imaging of γ H2AX foci formation at 2 Gy irradiation at 72 h post-treatment. **D.** Mean intensity of γ H2AX as determined by flow cytometry 96 hr post treatment (n=3). **E.** Comet assay. Fluorescent microscope imaging of both cell lines 72 hours post treatment with 2 Gy. **F.** Cell cycle analysis after exposure of HCT116 Ligase IV (-/-) colon cancer cells to 2 Gy of irradiation at 72 hr post-treatment.



В.



Figure 2

2C.



2D.



Figure 2. Promotion of autophagy and senescence by radiation in HCT116 cells. A. Acridine orange staining of HCT116 wt and HCT116 Ligase IV-deficient cells 96 hrs post treatment. Images shown are representative of three replicate studies. **B.** Quantification of autophagy by acridine orange flow cytometry 96 hr post treatment. Error bars represent standard error (* p<0.05 compared to the correspondent dose of HCT116 wt) (n=3). C. Promotion of senescence based on β galactosidase staining. **D.** Quantification of β galactosidase by flow cytometry at 96 hr (n=3). Error bars represent standard error (* p<0.05 compared to the HCT116 wt cells as the same dose) (n=3).







Figure 3. Inhibition of autophagy fails to suppress radiation-induced senescence. A. HCT116 cells and HCT116 Ligase IV-deficient cells were pretreated with chloroquine (5 uM) or Bafilomycin (5 nM) and exposed to the indicated doses of radiation. Senescence was assessed after 96 h by flow cytometry (n=3). **B.** HCT116 cells and HCT116 Ligase IV-deficient cells with silencing of ATG5 or ATG7 were exposed to the indicated doses of radiation and senescence was assessed after 96 h by flow cytometry (n=3).

Figure 4



Negatively-stained cells

(Non-senescent)

Positively-stained cells

(Senescent)





C.



Figure 4





Figure 4. DNA repair capacity in senescent cells. HCT116 cells were stained with β-galactosidase substrate (C12-FDG) 96 hours post-treatment, and subjected for sorting by flow cytometry machine. **A.** An example of raw data obtained from flow cytometry for both conditions. Upper demonstrating the distribution of HCT116 WT and HCT116 Ligase IV-deficient cells when were exposed to 6 Gy and 3 Gy of radiation, respectively. **B.** HCT116 cells were stained with β-galactosidase substrate (C₁₂FDG) 96 hours post-treatment, and subjected for sorting by flow cytometry at excitation/emission wavelengths of 490/514 nm. Left panels show gating of cells based on forward scatter vs side scatter; right panels show gating applied to data from 488-610/20 channel to detect β-Gal fluorescence. Both subpopulations were stained with β-galactosidase to ensure that cells were successfully sorted according to size and fluorescence. **C.** Senescent and non-senescent sub-populations were replated separately in 6-well plates, and viable cell number was monitored at the indicated time points by trypan blue exclusion. **D.** HCT116 cells and HCT116 Ligase IV (-/-) cells were exposed to 8 Gy or 4 Gy radiation followed by a 96 h interval for DNA repair and subsequent re-exposure to 4 Gy or 2 Gy radiation, respectively. Intensity of γH2AX fluorescence was measured by flow cytometry at the indicated time points (n=3).





2

1

0

Control

ME

ND



1

0

Control

ME

AD

R+ME

Þ

R*MD



R*ML

Þ

R*AID

Figure 5



Figure 5. Cell survival, DNA damage, autophagy and senescence in irradiated cells exposed to PARP inhibitors. HCT116 WT and HCT116 Ligase IVdeficient cells were incubated with AZD-2281 (1 μ M) or MK-4827 (1 μ M) for 3 h before irradiation. A. Number of colonies was determined after 14 days (n=3). B. Number of viable cells was counted at the indicated time points (n=5). C. γ H2AX intensity was measured at the indicated time points (n=3). D. Quantification of senescence by flow cytometry at the indicated time points (n=3). E. Quantification of autophagy by flow cytometry at the indicated time points (n=3).





Figure 6. Proliferative recovery after radiation and PARP inhibition. HCT116 wt and HCT116 Ligase IV-deficient cells were incubated with AZD-2281 (1 μ M) or MK-4827 (1 μ M) for 3 h before exposure to radiation 4 Gy and 1 Gy, respectively. Viable cell number was monitored over a period of 20 days.







Figure 7. Inhibition of autophagy does not alter sensitization to radiation by PARP inhibition. Autophagy regulated genes were silenced in the HCT116 wt and HCT116 Ligase IV deficient cell lines using short hairpin RNA (shRNA) for *ATG5* and *ATG7*. **A.** Autophagy-deficient and autophagy-proficient HCT116 cells were irradiated with and without exposure to the PARP inhibitors. **B.** Autophagy-deficient and autophagy-proficient HCT116 Ligase IV-deficient cells were irradiated with and without exposure to the PARP inhibitors.

Supplementary Figure 1

A.



Supplementary Figure 1. Relationship between autophagy, senescence, and DNA damage. intensity of γ H2AX staining in Ligase IV-proficient and -deficient cells. The extent of autophagy, senescence, and DNA damage (γ H2AX staining) were obtained from flow cytometric analyses (n=3). Data were normalized to the value measured in unirradiated HCT116 wt cells. The fraction of cells showing evidence of autophagy by (acridine orange staining as determined by flow cytometry) was plotted against either the fraction of senescent cells as determined by C₁₂FDG staining and flow cytometry or the intensity of γ H2AX. r² values are shown for each correlation.



Supplementary Figure 2

B.





Supplementary Figure 2. Interference with autophagy in both cell lines by pharmacologic and genetic approaches. A. HCT116 WT and HCT116 Ligase IV-deficient cells were transfected with shRNA of *ATG5* and *ATG7* or scrambled controls to suppress autophagy via genetic silencing. **B/C.** Western blotting for degradation of p62/SQSTM1, a marker of autophagic flux was performed to confirm blockade of autophagy in cells pretreated with chloroquine (CQ, 5 μ M) or bafilomycin (Baf, 5 nM) 3 hr before exposure to radiation. **D/E.** Western blotting for degradation of p62/SQSTM1 was performed to confirm blockade of autophagy by silencing of ATG5 and ATG7.

69

Supplementary Figure 3





IR

IR + MK















D.

HCT116 Ligase IV (-/-)

Control

MK







IR + AZD




Supplementary Figure 3. Comet assay, senescence and cell cycle analysis. DNA damage by the Comet assay and senescence based on βgalactosidase staining were monitored in HCT116 WT and HCT116 Ligase IV (-/-) cells after the exposure to PARP inhibitors and radiation 72 hours post treatment. A/B. Images of comet assay taken by fluorescent microscope at magnification 20X. C/D. Promotion of senescence based on βgalactosidase staining. **E.** Cell cycle analysis in HCT116 WT and HCT116 Ligase IV (-/-) colon cancer cells after exposure to 4 Gy and 1 Gy, respectively, with or without PARP inhibitors.

E.

Supplementary Figure 4

Control

MK

AZD

HCT116 WT



B.

HCT116 WT

Control

IR

MK

AZD



IR + AZD





Supplementary Figure 4. Autophagy in irradiated HCT116 WT and HCT116 Ligase IV (-/-) cells exposed to PARP inhibitors. A. Acridine orange staining in HCT116 cells as an indication of autophagy 72 hours post radiation treatment with and without PARP inhibitors. B. HCT116 WT cells were transfected with RFP-LC3 construct as an indication of autophagy 72 hours post treatment. C. Acridine orange staining of irradiated HCT116 Ligase IV-deficient cells with and without co-administration of PARP inhibitors.

Supplementary Figure 5

A.





HCT116 Ligase IV (-/-)





Supplementary Figure 5. Apoptosis is not involved in the radio sensitization of HCT116 cells by PARP inhibitors. A. Induction of apoptosis evaluated by staining with Annexin 5 (n=3). B/C. Apoptosis evaluated in HCT116 WT and HCT116 Ligase IV (-/-) cells based on the TUNEL assay D. HCT116 cells were pretreated with caspase inhibitor Z-VAD (10 μ M) and exposed to radiation alone and radiation with PARP inhibitors. Number of viable cells was monitored over a period of 3 days.

Supplementary Figure 6

A.



Supplementary Figure 6. Inhibition of autophagy does not alter sensitization to radiation by PARP inhibition. HCT116 cells and H460 cells were exposed to radiation + PARP inhibitor with or without chloroquine. **A.** HCT116 cells were pretreated with chloroquine (5 uM), PARP inhibitor (1 uM), or both, 3 hr prior to radiation. Number of viable cells was monitored at the indicated time points. **B.** H460 cells were pretreated with chloroquine (10 uM), PARP inhibitor (Niraparib (1 uM)), or both, 3 hr prior to radiation. Number of viable cells was monitored at indicated time points.

Chapter 5: Discussion

5.1 Introduction.

Radiotherapy is one of the most widely used anti-tumor strategies. However, the response of tumors to radiation varies. In some types of cancers, radiation is quite effective while other tumors show resistance to radiation. For example, treatment with radiation after surgery or along with chemotherapy significantly reduces recurrence and improves the outcomes of breast and head and neck cancer therapy, respectively [103-104]. On the other hand, glioblastoma and lung cancer show high resistance to radiation, even in combination with chemotherapeutics, and recurrence is common within few years after therapy [105-107].

Radiation toxicity is mediated through formation of ions accompanied with application of high energy in the cells. This high-energy deposition results in instability of the genetic material, and may lead to cell death [50]. The main goal of radiotherapy is to maximize the dose to the cancerous tissues with minimum damage to the normal adjacent cells. Generally, normal cells are more efficient in repairing their damaged DNA than cancer cells [48]. This may be due to the fact that some tumors have been found to have mutations in their recombinational DNA repair [51-52]. Mutations in major proteins involved in recombination repair make the tumors more sensitive to DSBs, whereas in normal cells such a mutation is absent and will not affect repair. This is one basis for the relative selectivity of radiotherapy in the treatment of cancer.

Ionizing radiation can cause DNA damage directly by producing single- and doublestrand breaks or indirectly through generating reactive oxygen species (ROS) in the cells. Although the majority of DNA breaks become repaired upon induction of DNA repair pathways, many DNA damage foci appear to be persistent [99]. It is yet unclear why these foci do not undergo DNA repair as is the case for the bulk of double-strand breaks (DSBs), but it could be either due to the repression of DNA repair system in the cells or due to the unique properties of these persistent foci.

In response to treatment, tumor cells can undergo a form of growth arrest that is termed stress-induced senescence. The ability of DNA-damaged cells to avoid apoptosis and enter a state of senescence may indicate that senescence could act as a permissive mechanism for persistent DNA damage foci to be eventually repaired. Although anticancer drugs and ionizing radiation frequently cause senescence of tumor cells, it is not necessary that these cells are going to undergo cell death due to several reasons. First, senescence may be permissive for DNA damage repair and subsequent proliferation of cells after exposure to chemotherapeutic agents or radiation. Second, senescence may allow treated cells to upregulate certain enzymes in order to inactivate the anti-cancer agents. Third, the dose that is used to induce senescence or the time of cellular exposure to anticancer agents may not be sufficient to enforce cells to undergo cell death; in other words, it is nonlethal doses for the tumor cells whereas increasing the dose could be harmful to normal cells.

5.2 Differences in response to low doses of radiation between Liagase IV-proficient and Ligase IV-deficient cell lines.

Non-homologous end joining (NHEJ) is considered the major pathway for repair of the double-strand breaks in DNA induced by ionizing radiation in mammalian cells. In studies by Katsube *et al*, differences in sensitivity to radiation were observed for HCT116 cells lacking proteins involved in the NHEJ pathway such as XRCC4 and Artemis [209]. In this study, the XRCC4 and Artemis loci were inactivated by gene targeting and the response of these

genetically modified cell lines to radiation was evaluated in terms of cell viability and other markers of DNA damage. The function of XRCC4 is known to be associated with Ligase IV, forming a complex (XRCC4/Ligase IV) to rejoin the broken DNA ends [220]. Also, Artemis has a related function in the same pathway (exonuclease activity) where it trims some types of broken DNA before the rejoining process by XRCC4/Ligase IV complex occurs [221]. Although both proteins were found to be essential for the NHEJ pathway, *Artemis -/-* showed less sensitivity to radiation than *XRCC4 -/-* cell lines; sensitivity was also reduced for other different DNA-damaging agents [209]. Furthermore, the level of DNA damage was significantly higher after treatment with radiation in repair deficient cell lines than the parental cells (based on the DNA damage marker γ -H2AX), which indicates a compromised DSB repair mechanism in these cell lines.

Similarly, in the current work, we used two HCT-116 cell lines differing in their capability in repairing radiation-induced DSB's in order to assess the potential involvement of autophagy and senescence in DNA damage repair. Exposure of both cell lines to radiation showed significant differences in the promotion of autophagy and senescence. The repair-deficient cell line demonstrated higher levels of autophagy and senescence at the low dose of 2 Gy accompanied by a significant increase in the DNA damage marker γ -H2AX foci at each dose of radiation. Confocal microscopy comparing the formation of DNA damage foci between both cell lines confirmed that the Ligase IV-deficient cell lines significantly showed more γ -H2AX foci than the proficient cell line.

The results of our experiments were also consistent with studies in the literature showing that DNA damage can induce cells to undergo a state of senescence associated with autophagy [83, 222]. Our data show a direct correlation between the % of autophagy and % of senescence

in each cell line, indicating that DNA damage may play a role in the interplay between autophagy and senescence. Taken together, increased generation of radiation-induced DSB's promotes more senescence and autophagy, which might explain the increased radiation sensitivity in HCT116 Ligase IV-deficient cells.

5.3 The nature of irradiation-induced autophagy and irradiation-induced senescence in HCT116 cells.

Autophagy may have multiple cellular functions including the elimination of misfolded proteins and damaged organelles [223]. During carcinogenesis, autophagy plays dual roles. During formation of the tumor, autophagy can significantly delay tumorigenesis as studies have shown that Beclin1 can work as a haploinsufficient tumor suppressor and inhibit tumor progression [224-226], as well as tumors show mutations in autophagy regulating genes, indicating that tumor progression requires escaping autophagy [227]. On the other hand, autophagy may act as a cytoprotective manner in the fully formed tumor against some genotoxic stress factors, including radiation [228-229]. In this work, we sought to understand the role of autophagy in tumor response to DNA damage induction using radiation. A study by Li et al showed that inhibition of autophagy in p53 WT HCT116 cell sensitized the cells to topotecan [230]. In addition, inhibition of autophagy in HCT116 colon carcinoma cells led to the impairment of proliferation [231]. In the current work parental HCT116 cells became more sensitive to radiation when blocking autophagy was blocked either pharmacologically or genetically. Thus, in these cells autophagy was radioprotective [231-232]. In Ligase IVdefective cells, however, most if not all of this radioprotective effect was lost, suggesting that radiopreotection was mediated at least in part by an effect on NHEJ.

A recent study by Aleission *et al* investigated the relationship between autophagy and DNA repair pathways of DSBs in human bone marrow mesenchymal stromal cells (MSC) [233]. Their data suggested that inhibition of autophagy affects the activity of the NHEJ repair pathway rather than the HR, indicating that part of the cytoprotection of autophagy is via NHEJ. During irradiation, cells usually enter a state of growth arrest and non-cycling phase. During this stage, NHEJ pathway is the main DSB repair pathway that would be activated due to the lack of sister chromatid that is important for the Homologous recombination. Thus, inhibition of autophagy in a cell line that has an intact NHEJ would affect the cell viability of autophagic cells, whereas inhibition of autophagy in NHEJ – deficient cells would not show sensitization due to the absence of NHEJ and probably the dependence of these cells on an alternative repair pathway other than the classical NHEJ.

We then tried to investigate the function of radiation-induced senescence. One of our main questions we are aiming to address is the reversibility of radiation-induced senescence. Several reports in literature have indicated that fibroblasts entered a state of replicative senescence have escaped senescence and re-entered the cell cycle, forming pre-transforming cells [234-236]. Similarly, many laboratory studies have shown the recovery of the cells treated with radiation and chemotherapy [96, 101, 237-238]. Although some studies suggested the principle of the reversibility of senescence, none of these studies have successfully isolated the senescent and non-senescent cells. Therefore, we isolated senescent and non-senescent cells to study their recovery separately to address the question whether senescent cells are undergoing an irreversible or reversible growth arrest. Even though non-senescent cells show higher rate of growth, senescent cells also show late recovery in both cell lines. In addition, our data also suggest that when cells treated with dose of radiation that causes ~ 75% of senescence and

autophagy; the cells tend to repair their newly formed DNA damage foci. These data together suggest that autophagy plays a cytoprotective role when HCT116 cells were exposed to radiation while senescence seems to be reversible, possibly due to repairing the DSBs, and permissive to DNA-damaged cells.

In conclusion, radiation-induced autophagy and radiation-induced senescence lead ultimately to the survival of the treated cells. Although our data showed different degrees of cytoprotection of autophagy in both cell lines, the data of senescent cells of both cell lines also demonstrated permissive function of senescence in these cells.

5.4 The connection between autophagy and senescence. Are they directly linked?

In addition, the relationship of autophagy and senescence is still complicated and unclear. Several studies have shown that induction of senescence was dependent on autophagy [83-84], whereas other studies concluded that senescence is independent of autophagy [222, 239]. In contrast, several reports demonstrated that inhibition of autophagy leads to the promotion of senescence. The explanation of these contradicted viewpoints is difficult, but it seems that the outcomes depend on the experimental systems, the stress inducer, the role of autophagy, and the cell lines used in each study. However, it is still mysterious whether the connection between autophagy and senescence are linked via a defined signaling pathway. Furthermore, a study performed in our laboratory demonstrated that suppression of senescence may lead to attenuation of autophagy using chemotherapeutic agents [83]. Interestingly, studies have shown that serum starvation-induced autophagy in HCT116 cells is not associated with senescence in a p53 proficient cell line, whereas remarkable senescence was observed with p53- deficient HCT116 cells line [240]. Thus, it was important to understand the relationship between radiation-induced

autophagy and radiation-induced senescence in HCT116 cells and Ligase IV-deficient cells, since we noticed similarity between both phenomena in function and extent in response to radiation. As we found a correlation between the % of autophagy and % of senescence in response to DNA damage in both cell lines, it was noteworthy to determine whether the function of autophagy and senescence was also similar. Surprisingly, pharmacological and genetic inhibition of autophagy in both cell lines did not seem to affect the promotion of senescence even at high doses of radiation, indicating that promotion of senescence is independent of autophagy in our model. Earlier in this work, we have shown that autophagy and senescence were closely promoted in response to DNA damage, but does not necessarily indicate a common signaling pathway. It has been demonstrated that DNA damage response can lead to senescence and autophagy, possibly via induction of ATM [241-242]. The up-regulation of ATM leads to the activation of its downstream target p53, which by then leads to the promotion of senescence via p21-pRb pathway [241]. Also, p53 can activate the autophagy promoter AMP-activated protein kinase during the genotoxic stress [243], which in turn phosphorylates tuberous sclerosis (TSC) complex proteins TSC1 and TSC2. Both proteins TSC1 and TSC2 downregulate mTOR protein, which eventually lead to the promotion of autophagy [125]. In this study we used cell lines that have a wild-type p53. Thus, we would predict p53 to be functioning in both pathways and none of them would be compromised. Our data suggest that persistent DNA damage response (DDR) is maintained via upregulation of the ATM-p53 axis. Then both pathways diverge at p53 wherein senescence the pathways could be p53-p21-pRb, whereas in autophagy the pathway is p53-AMPK-TSC-mTOR. If these are indeed the primary signaling pathways, inhibition of DNA damage-induced autophagy would not attenuate senescence in HCT116 cells due to promotion of different downstream effectors.

5.5 Targeting DNA repair via inhibiting PARP

Given the observation that irradiated cells appear to undergo proliferative recovery after a period of growth arrest, we sought to sensitize both cell lines to radiation via interfering with DNA repair to combat the recovery. PARP inhibitors are considered one of the promising radiosensitizing agents that have been tested in clinical trials [180, 244-248]. The poly (ADP-ribose) polymerase (PARP) enzyme is involved in repair of single-strand breaks (SSBs), and lack of this enzyme in knockout mice incressed sensitivity to radiation and alkylating agents [249]. It has been shown that PARP inhibition converts the SSBs to be DSBs at the S phase in cell cycle, which in turn leads to the activation of homologous recombination repair (HRR). In cells lacking the protein BRCA, which is a major protein involved in repair pathway (HRR), PARP inhibition can be lethal during exposure to radiation [250]. Due to the microsatellite instability in colorectal cancer cells, the expression of protein MRE11, another protein involved in (HRR) pathway, is reduced [251]. Thus, administration of PARP inhibitors may lead to radio-sensitization in HCT116 cells.

PARP inhibitors increased the number of γ -H2AX foci and the number of irradiated cells undergoing autophagy and senescence, but not apoptosis. These data were consistent with our findings that both autophagy and senescence were directly correlated with induced DNA damage. In parental HCT116 cells, this increased DNA damage was associated with a dramatic reduction in clonogenic survival of irradiated cells, especially with MK. Remarkably, however, there was little or no further radiosensitization of the already radiosensitive Ligase IV-deficient cells, despite markedly higher levels of γ -H2AX, autophagy and senescence. This result suggests that NHEJ is required for PARP inhibitor-mediated radiosensitization, and is thus consistent with the premise that radiosensitization results from inappropriate channeling of replication-associated one-sided double-strand breaks into NHEJ. This mechanism has been invoked previously to explain the similar dependence of PARP inhibitor sensitivity on NHEJ in BRCA1-deficient cells [252], except that in those cells the initial single-strand breaks would be spontaneous rather than radiation-induced.

In any case, apoptosis does not seem to be involved in the cytotoxicity of combination therapy in either cell line, indicating that the radiosensitization of these cell lines by PARP inhibitors might be mediated by promoting autophagy and senescence. In our previous results, we have shown that irradiation-induced autophagy and irradiation-induced senescence seem to be permissive to the irradiated cells to undergo repair and recover. Since the autophagy and senescence promoted after the co-administration of PARP inhibitors, it was very important to understand whether suppression of autophagy and senescence would change the sensitivity of HCT116 cells to the combination therapy.

5.6 Inhibition of autophagy in HCT116 cells treated with irradiation and PARP inhibitors.

Studies performed in our lab indicated that inhibition of autophagy may confer the radiosensitization by vitamin D and its analogue in breast and non-small lung cancer cell lines, respectively [213, 216, 219]. Our strategic treatment seems to only induce minimal apoptosis, indicating that the main mode of toxicity of PARP inhibitors is through promoting prolonged growth arrest. Since markers of apoptosis were not observed in this model, inhibition of autophagy was important to understand whether autophagy is crucial for the sensitization. Interestingly, inhibition of autophagy did not interfere with the cytotoxicity of our therapeutic strategy. Taking into the consideration that radiation-induced senescence and radiation-induced autophagy are not linked in our system, this disassociation may explain why inhibition of autophagy does not confer the sensitization in these cells, indicating that these cells can undergo senescence independently.

5.7 Effect of PARP inhibitors on the recovery of senescent and non-senescent cells.

Recent study showed that PARP-1 is involved in a newly identified back up pathway named PARP1-dependent end joining (PARP1-EJ) [253]. This new finding adds another aspect of the lethality of our combination therapy in HCT116 cell lines when main repair pathways are blocked, i.e., it would explain more about the radio-sensitizing effect of PARP inhibitors in the cells that lack Ligase IV. However, another NHEJ-like back up repair mechanism, called mutagenic NHEJ pathway, can be activated when PARP1- mediated and HR pathways are inactivated [254]. In line with this suggested pathway, our presented data showed that radiosensitivity by PARP inhibition in both cell lines can be reversible as in (**Figure 6**), possibly due to the alternative pathway (mutagenic NHEJ).

5.9 Conclusion:

There is no consensus as to whether senescence induced by radiation or chemotherapy is reversible [235, 255]. We demonstrate that both in the case of radiation alone and in the studies combining PARP inhibition with radiation, growth arrest is followed by proliferative recovery. These observations clearly suggest that tumor cells that enter a state of autophagy/senescence have the capacity to re-emerge into a proliferative state. If these findings can be extrapolated to clinical cancer, this may explain why radiation is not fully effective in the treatment of some types of malignancies. Furthermore, it is likely that the use of PARP inhibitors will result in only transient radiosensitization. We conclude that the extent of radiation-induced DNA damage is accompanied with an increase of autophagy and senescence. The extent of autophagy and senescence induced at different doses of radiation was more pronounced in the ligase IV deficient cells, which is correlated with increased levels of DNA damage. Autophagic/senescent HCT116 cells demonstrated the ability to repair the newly formed DSBs. These data may indicate that promoting senescence alone would not have an effect on overall DNA repair system efficiency. However, radio-sensitized cells ultimately recover proliferative capacity, indicating that the inclusion of PARP inhibitors with radiation may not interfere with disease recurrence. Currently therapeutic regimens such as radiotherapy generally fail to completely eradicate the tumor cell population; this could be due, in part, to the induction of autophagy and senescence, which may be permissive for DNA repair. While inhibition of DNA repair (PARP inhibition) may initially sensitize cells via increased autophagy and senescence, this strategy does not appear to interfere with proliferative recovery, which is likely to contribute to disease recurrence.

Future studies:

In our study, we tried to interfere with recovery via using PARP inhibitors, and investigate the mode of radiosensitization by PARP inhibitors in HCT116 cells. Our results indicated that co-administration of PARP inhibitors with radiation resulted in autophagy and senescence, but not apoptosis. To understand whether this combination therapy would lead to multiple modes of cells death, it would be significant to screen for another mode of cell death called "mitotic catastrophe". Mitotic catastrophe is described as deregulated mitosis results in misaligned chromosomes, clusters of aneuploidy, and creation of multi micronuclei enclosed within a nuclear envelope. The phenomenon of mitotic catastrophe occurs when the process of DNA replication is disconnected from the process of mitosis during cell cycle. Thus, it is unclear yet whether mitotic catastrophe is a cell death mechanism or a protective mechanism by which cancer cells avoid apoptosis [256]. Intriguingly, several studies have shown that promotion of mitotic catastrophe was associated with the remarkable markers of apoptosis, which might indicate that mitotic catastrophe cross-talks to apoptosis [257-260]. In regard to radiosensitization by PARP inhibitors, few studies have claimed that interfering with DNA repair along with DNA damaging agents may lead to differential modes of cell death, including mitotic catastrophe [261-262]. In line with these findings, our DAPI-stained cells demonstrated some mis-segregated macro- and micro-nuclei when cells were exposed to combination therapy. Thus, it is worth conducting more sophisticated experiments to investigate the promotion of mitotic catastrophe extensively by probing cell cycle regulating proteins and different microscopic

assays.

In addition, it is worthwhile to study the sensitizing effects of combining chemotherapeutic agents with radiation and PARP inhibitors. As mentioned earlier in introduction, colorectal carcinoma is mainly treated by chemotherapy. Since we have shown in our studies that combination of PARP with radiotherapy led to sensitization of HCT116 colon cancer cells, it would be important to study the chemoradiation regiment with PARP inhibitors. A recent study by Shelton JW *et al* demonstrated that the PARP inhibitor (ABT-888) synergized the effects chemoradiation treatement [263]. In this study, authors used one of the earliest discovered PARP inhibitors that has less potency than Olaparib and Niraparib, the ones we used in our studies [190]. Thus, testing the synergistic effect of Olaparib and Niraparib in this system might add usefulness to these powerful PARP inhibitors. Similar to other reports, this study did not conduct any further assays to investigate what mode of sensitization these cells undergo during chemoradiation. Therefore, we would try to find out what mode of cell death would sensitize colon carcinoma cells when Olaparib and Niraparib were added to chemoradiation.

Finally, we would evaluate the effectiveness of PARP with either radiation alone or chemoradiation on HCT116 colon cancer cells in vivo, using xenograft model or an orthotopic model [263-264]. In the previous studies of in vivo studies of PARP inhibitor ABT-888 in colorectal carcinoma cells, the PARP inhibitor showed efficacy against HCT116 and HT29 cells in vivo [263]. This drug was given orally at dose of 12.5 mg/kg twice daily in 6-hours interval with or without chemotherapy, and then exposed to radiation 2 (Gy). The PARP inhibitor ABT-888 has shown an inhibitory effect in HCT116 cells in vivo. In addition, co-administration of PARP inhibitor with chemoradiation resulted in a significant inhibition in tumor growth. Therefore, using more potent inhibitors such as Niraparib and Olaparib may provide better tumor

killing results. Also, both drugs were found to be well tolerated in humans at clinically achievable doses [265-266], indicating that these inhibitors could be promising radiosensitizers due to their low toxicity. Taken together, the anti-cancer and the radiosensitizing properties may suggest that PARP inhibitors are effective agents for the therapy colon cancer.

- 1. Siegel, R.L.,K.D. Miller,A. Jemal. Cancer statistics, 2015. CA Cancer J Clin 2015;65:5-29.
- 2. Ferlay, J.,I. Soerjomataram,R. Dikshit,S. Eser,C. Mathers,M. Rebelo, et al. Cancer incidence and mortality worldwide: Sources, methods and major patterns in globocan 2012. Int J Cancer 2015;136:E359-86.
- 3. Center, M.M., A. Jemal, R.A. Smith, E. Ward. Worldwide variations in colorectal cancer. CA Cancer J Clin 2009;59:366-78.
- 4. Center, M.M., A. Jemal, E. Ward. International trends in colorectal cancer incidence rates. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2009;18:1688-94.
- 5. Taylor, D.P.,R.W. Burt,M.S. Williams,P.J. Haug,L.A. Cannon-Albright. Population-based family history-specific risks for colorectal cancer: A constellation approach. Gastroenterology 2010;138:877-85.
- 6. Ma, Y.,Y. Yang,F. Wang,P. Zhang,C. Shi,Y. Zou, et al. Obesity and risk of colorectal cancer: A systematic review of prospective studies. PLoS One 2013;8:e53916.
- 7. Jess, T.,C. Rungoe,L. Peyrin-Biroulet. Risk of colorectal cancer in patients with ulcerative colitis: A meta-analysis of population-based cohort studies. Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol 2012;10:639-45.
- 8. Liang, P.S., T.Y. Chen, E. Giovannucci. Cigarette smoking and colorectal cancer incidence and mortality: Systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Cancer 2009;124:2406-15.
- 9. Fedirko, V.,I. Tramacere,V. Bagnardi,M. Rota,L. Scotti,F. Islami, et al. Alcohol drinking and colorectal cancer risk: An overall and dose-response meta-analysis of published studies. Ann Oncol 2011;22:1958-72.
- 10. Cercek, A.,L. Saltz. Evolving treatment of advanced colorectal cancer. Curr Oncol Rep 2010;12:153-9.
- 11. Bardelli, A., P.A. Janne. The road to resistance: Egfr mutation and cetuximab. Nat Med 2012;18:199-200.
- 12. Montagut, C.,A. Dalmases,B. Bellosillo,M. Crespo,S. Pairet,M. Iglesias, et al. Identification of a mutation in the extracellular domain of the epidermal growth factor receptor conferring cetuximab resistance in colorectal cancer. Nat Med 2012;18:221-3.
- 13. Bardelli, A.,S. Corso,A. Bertotti,S. Hobor,E. Valtorta,G. Siravegna, et al. Amplification of the met receptor drives resistance to anti-egfr therapies in colorectal cancer. Cancer Discov 2013;3:658-73.
- 14. Troiani, T.,E. Martinelli,S. Napolitano,D. Vitagliano,L.P. Ciuffreda,S. Costantino, et al. Increased tgf-alpha as a mechanism of acquired resistance to the anti-egfr inhibitor cetuximab through egfr-met interaction and activation of met signaling in colon cancer cells. Clin Cancer Res 2013;19:6751-65.
- 15. Arnold, D.,T. Seufferlein. Targeted treatments in colorectal cancer: State of the art and future perspectives. Gut 2010;59:838-58.
- 16. de Jong, M.C.,C. Pulitano,D. Ribero,J. Strub,G. Mentha,R.D. Schulick, et al. Rates and patterns of recurrence following curative intent surgery for colorectal liver metastasis: An international multi-institutional analysis of 1669 patients. Ann Surg 2009;250:440-8.
- 17. Boveri, T. Concerning the origin of malignant tumours by theodor boveri. Translated and annotated by henry harris. J Cell Sci 2008;121 Suppl 1:1-84.
- 18. Lord, C.J., A. Ashworth. The DNA damage response and cancer therapy. Nature 2012;481:287-94.
- 19. Ortmann, C.A., D.G. Kent, J. Nangalia, Y. Silber, D.C. Wedge, J. Grinfeld, et al. Effect of mutation order on myeloproliferative neoplasms. N Engl J Med 2015;372:601-12.

- 20. Ma, Q.,A.Y. Lu. Pharmacogenetics, pharmacogenomics, and individualized medicine. Pharmacol Rev 2011;63:437-59.
- 21. David, S.S., V.L. O'Shea, S. Kundu. Base-excision repair of oxidative DNA damage. Nature 2007;447:941-50.
- 22. Cleaver, J.E.,E.T. Lam,I. Revet. Disorders of nucleotide excision repair: The genetic and molecular basis of heterogeneity. Nat Rev Genet 2009;10:756-68.
- 23. Jiricny, J. The multifaceted mismatch-repair system. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2006;7:335-46.
- 24. Povirk, L.F. Biochemical mechanisms of chromosomal translocations resulting from DNA doublestrand breaks. DNA Repair (Amst) 2006;5:1199-212.
- 25. Arosio, D.,S. Cui,C. Ortega,M. Chovanec,S. Di Marco,G. Baldini, et al. Studies on the mode of ku interaction with DNA. J Biol Chem 2002;277:9741-8.
- 26. Mladenov, E.,G. Iliakis. Induction and repair of DNA double strand breaks: The increasing spectrum of non-homologous end joining pathways. Mutat Res 2011;711:61-72.
- 27. Weterings, E.,D.J. Chen. The endless tale of non-homologous end-joining. Cell Res 2008;18:114-24.
- 28. Onn, I.,J.M. Heidinger-Pauli,V. Guacci,E. Unal,D.E. Koshland. Sister chromatid cohesion: A simple concept with a complex reality. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 2008;24:105-29.
- 29. San Filippo, J., P. Sung, H. Klein. Mechanism of eukaryotic homologous recombination. Annu Rev Biochem 2008;77:229-57.
- 30. West, S.C. Molecular views of recombination proteins and their control. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2003;4:435-45.
- 31. Sartori, A.A., C. Lukas, J. Coates, M. Mistrik, S. Fu, J. Bartek, et al. Human ctip promotes DNA end resection. Nature 2007;450:509-14.
- 32. Kousholt, A.N.,K. Fugger,S. Hoffmann,B.D. Larsen,T. Menzel,A.A. Sartori, et al. Ctip-dependent DNA resection is required for DNA damage checkpoint maintenance but not initiation. J Cell Biol 2012;197:869-76.
- 33. Mladenov, E.,S. Magin,A. Soni,G. Iliakis. DNA double-strand break repair as determinant of cellular radiosensitivity to killing and target in radiation therapy. Front Oncol 2013;3:113.
- 34. Karpenshif, Y.,K.A. Bernstein. From yeast to mammals: Recent advances in genetic control of homologous recombination. DNA Repair (Amst) 2012;11:781-8.
- 35. Li, X.,W.D. Heyer. Rad54 controls access to the invading 3'-oh end after rad51-mediated DNA strand invasion in homologous recombination in saccharomyces cerevisiae. Nucleic Acids Res 2009;37:638-46.
- 36. Wu, L.,I.D. Hickson. The bloom's syndrome helicase suppresses crossing over during homologous recombination. Nature 2003;426:870-4.
- 37. Constantinou, A.,X.B. Chen,C.H. McGowan,S.C. West. Holliday junction resolution in human cells: Two junction endonucleases with distinct substrate specificities. EMBO J 2002;21:5577-85.
- 38. Ip, S.C., U. Rass, M.G. Blanco, H.R. Flynn, J.M. Skehel, S.C. West. Identification of holliday junction resolvases from humans and yeast. Nature 2008;456:357-61.
- 39. Hanahan, D.,R.A. Weinberg. Hallmarks of cancer: The next generation. Cell 2011;144:646-74.
- 40. Integrated genomic analyses of ovarian carcinoma. Nature 2011;474:609-15.
- 41. Bartkova, J.,N. Rezaei,M. Liontos,P. Karakaidos,D. Kletsas,N. Issaeva, et al. Oncogene-induced senescence is part of the tumorigenesis barrier imposed by DNA damage checkpoints. Nature 2006;444:633-7.
- 42. Halazonetis, T.D.,V.G. Gorgoulis,J. Bartek. An oncogene-induced DNA damage model for cancer development. Science 2008;319:1352-5.
- 43. Bartkova, J.,Z. Horejsi,K. Koed,A. Kramer,F. Tort,K. Zieger, et al. DNA damage response as a candidate anti-cancer barrier in early human tumorigenesis. Nature 2005;434:864-70.

- 44. Di Micco, R.,M. Fumagalli,A. Cicalese,S. Piccinin,P. Gasparini,C. Luise, et al. Oncogene-induced senescence is a DNA damage response triggered by DNA hyper-replication. Nature 2006;444:638-42.
- 45. Demonacos, C.,M. Krstic-Demonacos,L. Smith,D. Xu,D.P. O'Connor,M. Jansson, et al. A new effector pathway links atm kinase with the DNA damage response. Nat Cell Biol 2004;6:968-76.
- 46. Barnett, G.C.,C.M. West,A.M. Dunning,R.M. Elliott,C.E. Coles,P.D. Pharoah, et al. Normal tissue reactions to radiotherapy: Towards tailoring treatment dose by genotype. Nat Rev Cancer 2009;9:134-42.
- 47. Delaney, G.,S. Jacob,C. Featherstone,M. Barton. The role of radiotherapy in cancer treatment: Estimating optimal utilization from a review of evidence-based clinical guidelines. Cancer 2005;104:1129-37.
- 48. Begg, A.C., F.A. Stewart, C. Vens. Strategies to improve radiotherapy with targeted drugs. Nat Rev Cancer 2011;11:239-53.
- 49. Ringborg, U.,D. Bergqvist,B. Brorsson,E. Cavallin-Stahl,J. Ceberg,N. Einhorn, et al. The swedish council on technology assessment in health care (sbu) systematic overview of radiotherapy for cancer including a prospective survey of radiotherapy practice in sweden 2001--summary and conclusions. Acta Oncol 2003;42:357-65.
- 50. Jackson, S.P., J. Bartek. The DNA-damage response in human biology and disease. Nature 2009;461:1071-8.
- 51. van Gent, D.C.,J.H. Hoeijmakers,R. Kanaar. Chromosomal stability and the DNA double-stranded break connection. Nat Rev Genet 2001;2:196-206.
- 52. Bishop, A.J., R.H. Schiestl. Homologous recombination as a mechanism of carcinogenesis. Biochim Biophys Acta 2001;1471:M109-21.
- 53. Georgakilas, A.G. Processing of DNA damage clusters in human cells: Current status of knowledge. Mol Biosyst 2008;4:30-5.
- 54. Hanai, R.,M. Yazu,K. Hieda. On the experimental distinction between ssbs and dsbs in circular DNA. Int J Radiat Biol 1998;73:475-9.
- 55. Henner, W.D.,L.O. Rodriguez,S.M. Hecht,W.A. Haseltine. Gamma ray induced deoxyribonucleic acid strand breaks. 3' glycolate termini. J Biol Chem 1983;258:711-3.
- 56. Rothkamm, K.,M. Lobrich. Evidence for a lack of DNA double-strand break repair in human cells exposed to very low x-ray doses. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2003;100:5057-62.
- 57. Claesson, K.,K. Magnander,H. Kahu,S. Lindegren,R. Hultborn,K. Elmroth. Rbe of alpha-particles from (211)at for complex DNA damage and cell survival in relation to cell cycle position. Int J Radiat Biol 2011;87:372-84.
- 58. Magnander, K., R. Hultborn, K. Claesson, K. Elmroth. Clustered DNA damage in irradiated human diploid fibroblasts: Influence of chromatin organization. Radiat Res 2010;173:272-82.
- 59. Lieber, M.R. The mechanism of double-strand DNA break repair by the nonhomologous DNA end-joining pathway. Annu Rev Biochem 2010;79:181-211.
- 60. Schmid, T.E.,G. Dollinger,W. Beisker,V. Hable,C. Greubel,S. Auer, et al. Differences in the kinetics of gamma-h2ax fluorescence decay after exposure to low and high let radiation. Int J Radiat Biol 2010;86:682-91.
- 61. Reynolds, P.,J.A. Anderson,J.V. Harper,M.A. Hill,S.W. Botchway,A.W. Parker, et al. The dynamics of ku70/80 and DNA-pkcs at dsbs induced by ionizing radiation is dependent on the complexity of damage. Nucleic Acids Res 2012;40:10821-31.
- 62. Asaithamby, A.,N. Uematsu,A. Chatterjee,M.D. Story,S. Burma,D.J. Chen. Repair of hze-particleinduced DNA double-strand breaks in normal human fibroblasts. Radiat Res 2008;169:437-46.
- 63. Stat bite: Worldwide cervical and uterine cancer incidence and mortality, 2002. J Natl Cancer Inst 2006;98:1031.

- 64. Mizushima, N., M. Komatsu. Autophagy: Renovation of cells and tissues. Cell 2011;147:728-41.
- 65. Kroemer, G., G. Marino, B. Levine. Autophagy and the integrated stress response. Mol Cell 2010;40:280-93.
- 66. Mizushima, N.,T. Yoshimori,Y. Ohsumi. The role of atg proteins in autophagosome formation. Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol 2011;27:107-32.
- 67. Polson, H.E., J. de Lartigue, D.J. Rigden, M. Reedijk, S. Urbe, M.J. Clague, et al. Mammalian atg18 (wipi2) localizes to omegasome-anchored phagophores and positively regulates lc3 lipidation. Autophagy 2010;6:506-22.
- 68. Simonsen, A.,S.A. Tooze. Coordination of membrane events during autophagy by multiple class iii pi3-kinase complexes. J Cell Biol 2009;186:773-82.
- 69. Hayflick, L.,P.S. Moorhead. The serial cultivation of human diploid cell strains. Exp Cell Res 1961;25:585-621.
- 70. Rowland, J.H. Cancer survivorship: Rethinking the cancer control continuum. Semin Oncol Nurs 2008;24:145-52.
- 71. Li, G.Z., M.S. Eller, R. Firoozabadi, B.A. Gilchrest. Evidence that exposure of the telomere 3' overhang sequence induces senescence. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2003;100:527-31.
- 72. Longhese, M.P. DNA damage response at functional and dysfunctional telomeres. Genes Dev 2008;22:125-40.
- 73. Doksani, Y.,T. de Lange. The role of double-strand break repair pathways at functional and dysfunctional telomeres. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol 2014;6:a016576.
- 74. Vergel, M.,J.J. Marin, P. Estevez, A. Carnero. Cellular senescence as a target in cancer control. J Aging Res 2010;2011:725365.
- 75. Campisi, J.,F. d'Adda di Fagagna. Cellular senescence: When bad things happen to good cells. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 2007;8:729-40.
- 76. Malumbres, M.,A. Carnero. Cell cycle deregulation: A common motif in cancer. Prog Cell Cycle Res 2003;5:5-18.
- 77. Kolupaeva, V.,V. Janssens. Pp1 and pp2a phosphatases--cooperating partners in modulating retinoblastoma protein activation. FEBS J 2013;280:627-43.
- 78. Stevens, C.,N.B. La Thangue. E2f and cell cycle control: A double-edged sword. Arch Biochem Biophys 2003;412:157-69.
- 79. Verheij, M. Clinical biomarkers and imaging for radiotherapy-induced cell death. Cancer Metastasis Rev 2008;27:471-80.
- 80. Clarke, M.,R. Collins,S. Darby,C. Davies,P. Elphinstone,E. Evans, et al. Effects of radiotherapy and of differences in the extent of surgery for early breast cancer on local recurrence and 15-year survival: An overview of the randomised trials. Lancet 2005;366:2087-106.
- 81. Dean-Colomb, W.,F.J. Esteva. Emerging agents in the treatment of anthracycline- and taxanerefractory metastatic breast cancer. Semin Oncol 2008;35:S31-8; quiz S40.
- 82. Gonzalez-Angulo, A.M., F. Morales-Vasquez, G.N. Hortobagyi. Overview of resistance to systemic therapy in patients with breast cancer. Adv Exp Med Biol 2007;608:1-22.
- 83. Goehe, R.W.,X. Di,K. Sharma,M.L. Bristol,S.C. Henderson,K. Valerie, et al. The autophagysenescence connection in chemotherapy: Must tumor cells (self) eat before they sleep? J Pharmacol Exp Ther 2012;343:763-78.
- 84. Young, A.R., M. Narita, M. Ferreira, K. Kirschner, M. Sadaie, J.F. Darot, et al. Autophagy mediates the mitotic senescence transition. Genes Dev 2009;23:798-803.
- 85. Narita, M.,A.R. Young. Autophagy facilitates oncogene-induced senescence. Autophagy 2009;5:1046-7.
- 86. Sharma, K.,N. Le,M. Alotaibi,D.A. Gewirtz. Cytotoxic autophagy in cancer therapy. Int J Mol Sci 2014;15:10034-51.

- 87. Gewirtz, D.A. The four faces of autophagy: Implications for cancer therapy. Cancer Res 2014;74:647-51.
- 88. Gewirtz, D.A. An autophagic switch in the response of tumor cells to radiation and chemotherapy. Biochem Pharmacol 2014;90:208-11.
- 89. Kanzawa, T.,I.M. Germano,T. Komata,H. Ito,Y. Kondo,S. Kondo. Role of autophagy in temozolomide-induced cytotoxicity for malignant glioma cells. Cell Death Differ 2004;11:448-57.
- 90. Zeng, X.,T. Yan,J.E. Schupp,Y. Seo,T.J. Kinsella. DNA mismatch repair initiates 6-thioguanine-induced autophagy through p53 activation in human tumor cells. Clin Cancer Res 2007;13:1315-21.
- 91. Robert, T.,F. Vanoli,I. Chiolo,G. Shubassi,K.A. Bernstein,R. Rothstein, et al. Hdacs link the DNA damage response, processing of double-strand breaks and autophagy. Nature 2011;471:74-9.
- 92. Munoz-Gamez, J.A., J.M. Rodriguez-Vargas, R. Quiles-Perez, R. Aguilar-Quesada, D. Martin-Oliva, G. de Murcia, et al. Parp-1 is involved in autophagy induced by DNA damage. Autophagy 2009;5:61-74.
- 93. Bae, H.,J.L. Guan. Suppression of autophagy by fip200 deletion impairs DNA damage repair and increases cell death upon treatments with anticancer agents. Mol Cancer Res 2011;9:1232-41.
- 94. Daido, S.,A. Yamamoto,K. Fujiwara,R. Sawaya,S. Kondo,Y. Kondo. Inhibition of the DNAdependent protein kinase catalytic subunit radiosensitizes malignant glioma cells by inducing autophagy. Cancer Res 2005;65:4368-75.
- 95. Yu, L.,V. Tumati,S.F. Tseng,F.M. Hsu,D.N. Kim,D. Hong, et al. Dab2ip regulates autophagy in prostate cancer in response to combined treatment of radiation and a DNA-pkcs inhibitor. Neoplasia 2012;14:1203-12.
- 96. Jones, K.R.,L.W. Elmore,C. Jackson-Cook,G. Demasters,L.F. Povirk,S.E. Holt, et al. P53-dependent accelerated senescence induced by ionizing radiation in breast tumour cells. Int J Radiat Biol 2005;81:445-58.
- 97. te Poele, R.H.,A.L. Okorokov,L. Jardine,J. Cummings,S.P. Joel. DNA damage is able to induce senescence in tumor cells in vitro and in vivo. Cancer Res 2002;62:1876-83.
- 98. Ding, Z.,C.J. Wu,M. Jaskelioff,E. Ivanova,M. Kost-Alimova,A. Protopopov, et al. Telomerase reactivation following telomere dysfunction yields murine prostate tumors with bone metastases. Cell 2012;148:896-907.
- 99. Rodier, F.,D.P. Munoz, R. Teachenor, V. Chu, O. Le, D. Bhaumik, et al. DNA-scars: Distinct nuclear structures that sustain damage-induced senescence growth arrest and inflammatory cytokine secretion. J Cell Sci 2011;124:68-81.
- 100. Roberson, R.S.,S.J. Kussick,E. Vallieres,S.Y. Chen,D.Y. Wu. Escape from therapy-induced accelerated cellular senescence in p53-null lung cancer cells and in human lung cancers. Cancer Res 2005;65:2795-803.
- 101. Elmore, L.W.,X. Di,C. Dumur,S.E. Holt,D.A. Gewirtz. Evasion of a single-step, chemotherapyinduced senescence in breast cancer cells: Implications for treatment response. Clin Cancer Res 2005;11:2637-43.
- 102. Roninson, I.B., E.V. Broude, B.D. Chang. If not apoptosis, then what? Treatment-induced senescence and mitotic catastrophe in tumor cells. Drug Resist Updat 2001;4:303-13.
- 103. Darby, S.,P. McGale,C. Correa,C. Taylor,R. Arriagada,M. Clarke, et al. Effect of radiotherapy after breast-conserving surgery on 10-year recurrence and 15-year breast cancer death: Metaanalysis of individual patient data for 10,801 women in 17 randomised trials. Lancet 2011;378:1707-16.
- 104. Krstevska, V. Radiotherapy and chemotherapy in locally advanced head and neck squamous cell carcinoma. J BUON 2009;14:361-73.

- 105. Stupp, R.,M.E. Hegi,W.P. Mason,M.J. van den Bent,M.J. Taphoorn,R.C. Janzer, et al. Effects of radiotherapy with concomitant and adjuvant temozolomide versus radiotherapy alone on survival in glioblastoma in a randomised phase iii study: 5-year analysis of the eortc-ncic trial. Lancet Oncol 2009;10:459-66.
- 106. Le Chevalier, T.,R. Arriagada,E. Quoix,P. Ruffie,M. Martin,M. Tarayre, et al. Radiotherapy alone versus combined chemotherapy and radiotherapy in nonresectable non-small-cell lung cancer: First analysis of a randomized trial in 353 patients. J Natl Cancer Inst 1991;83:417-23.
- 107. Curran, W.J., Jr., R. Paulus, C.J. Langer, R. Komaki, J.S. Lee, S. Hauser, et al. Sequential vs. Concurrent chemoradiation for stage iii non-small cell lung cancer: Randomized phase iii trial rtog 9410. J Natl Cancer Inst 2011;103:1452-60.
- 108. Azad, M.B.,Y. Chen,S.B. Gibson. Regulation of autophagy by reactive oxygen species (ros): Implications for cancer progression and treatment. Antioxid Redox Signal 2009;11:777-90.
- 109. Hippert, M.M., P.S. O'Toole, A. Thorburn. Autophagy in cancer: Good, bad, or both? Cancer Res 2006;66:9349-51.
- 110. Kim, R.,M. Emi,K. Tanabe,Y. Uchida,K. Arihiro. The role of apoptotic or nonapoptotic cell death in determining cellular response to anticancer treatment. Eur J Surg Oncol 2006;32:269-77.
- 111. Klionsky, D.J.,S.D. Emr. Autophagy as a regulated pathway of cellular degradation. Science 2000;290:1717-21.
- 112. Polager, S.,M. Ofir,D. Ginsberg. E2f1 regulates autophagy and the transcription of autophagy genes. Oncogene 2008;27:4860-4.
- 113. Kang, K.B.,C. Zhu,S.K. Yong,Q. Gao,M.C. Wong. Enhanced sensitivity of celecoxib in human glioblastoma cells: Induction of DNA damage leading to p53-dependent g1 cell cycle arrest and autophagy. Mol Cancer 2009;8:66.
- 114. Rieber, M.,M.S. Rieber. Sensitization to radiation-induced DNA damage accelerates loss of bcl-2 and increases apoptosis and autophagy. Cancer Biol Ther 2008;7:1561-6.
- 115. Abedin, M.J., D. Wang, M.A. McDonnell, U. Lehmann, A. Kelekar. Autophagy delays apoptotic death in breast cancer cells following DNA damage. Cell Death Differ 2007;14:500-10.
- 116. Katayama, M.,T. Kawaguchi,M.S. Berger,R.O. Pieper. DNA damaging agent-induced autophagy produces a cytoprotective adenosine triphosphate surge in malignant glioma cells. Cell Death Differ 2007;14:548-58.
- 117. Scherz-Shouval, R.,Z. Elazar. Regulation of autophagy by ros: Physiology and pathology. Trends Biochem Sci 2011;36:30-8.
- 118. Droge, W. Free radicals in the physiological control of cell function. Physiol Rev 2002;82:47-95.
- 119. Agostinelli, E.,N. Seiler. Non-irradiation-derived reactive oxygen species (ros) and cancer: Therapeutic implications. Amino Acids 2006;31:341-55.
- 120. Huang, Q.,H.M. Shen. To die or to live: The dual role of poly(adp-ribose) polymerase-1 in autophagy and necrosis under oxidative stress and DNA damage. Autophagy 2009;5:273-6.
- 121. Ito, H.,S. Daido, T. Kanzawa, S. Kondo, Y. Kondo. Radiation-induced autophagy is associated with Ic3 and its inhibition sensitizes malignant glioma cells. Int J Oncol 2005;26:1401-10.
- 122. Paglin, S.,T. Hollister,T. Delohery,N. Hackett,M. McMahill,E. Sphicas, et al. A novel response of cancer cells to radiation involves autophagy and formation of acidic vesicles. Cancer Res 2001;61:439-44.
- 123. Rodriguez-Vargas, J.M.,M.J. Ruiz-Magana,C. Ruiz-Ruiz,J. Majuelos-Melguizo,A. Peralta-Leal,M.I. Rodriguez, et al. Ros-induced DNA damage and parp-1 are required for optimal induction of starvation-induced autophagy. Cell Res 2012;22:1181-98.
- 124. Rodriguez-Rocha, H.,A. Garcia-Garcia, M.I. Panayiotidis, R. Franco. DNA damage and autophagy. Mutat Res 2011;711:158-66.

- 125. Feng, Z.,H. Zhang,A.J. Levine,S. Jin. The coordinate regulation of the p53 and mtor pathways in cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2005;102:8204-9.
- 126. Alexander, A.,J. Kim,C.L. Walker. Atm engages the tsc2/mtorc1 signaling node to regulate autophagy. Autophagy 2010;6:672-3.
- 127. Alexander, A.,S.L. Cai,J. Kim,A. Nanez,M. Sahin,K.H. MacLean, et al. Atm signals to tsc2 in the cytoplasm to regulate mtorc1 in response to ros. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2010;107:4153-8.
- 128. Tee, A.R.,C.G. Proud. DNA-damaging agents cause inactivation of translational regulators linked to mtor signalling. Oncogene 2000;19:3021-31.
- 129. Mammucari, C.,G. Milan,V. Romanello,E. Masiero,R. Rudolf,P. Del Piccolo, et al. Foxo3 controls autophagy in skeletal muscle in vivo. Cell Metab 2007;6:458-71.
- 130. Salminen, A.,K. Kaarniranta. Regulation of the aging process by autophagy. Trends Mol Med 2009;15:217-24.
- 131. Crighton, D.,S. Wilkinson,K.M. Ryan. Dram links autophagy to p53 and programmed cell death. Autophagy 2007;3:72-4.
- 132. Abida, W.M.,W. Gu. P53-dependent and p53-independent activation of autophagy by arf. Cancer Res 2008;68:352-7.
- 133. Shay, J.W.,I.B. Roninson. Hallmarks of senescence in carcinogenesis and cancer therapy. Oncogene 2004;23:2919-33.
- 134. Harley, C.B., A.B. Futcher, C.W. Greider. Telomeres shorten during ageing of human fibroblasts. Nature 1990;345:458-60.
- 135. Bodnar, A.G., M. Ouellette, M. Frolkis, S.E. Holt, C.P. Chiu, G.B. Morin, et al. Extension of life-span by introduction of telomerase into normal human cells. Science 1998;279:349-52.
- 136. Takai, H.,A. Smogorzewska,T. de Lange. DNA damage foci at dysfunctional telomeres. Curr Biol 2003;13:1549-56.
- 137. Rodier, F.,J.P. Coppe,C.K. Patil,W.A. Hoeijmakers,D.P. Munoz,S.R. Raza, et al. Persistent DNA damage signalling triggers senescence-associated inflammatory cytokine secretion. Nat Cell Biol 2009;11:973-9.
- 138. Herbig, U.,W.A. Jobling,B.P. Chen,D.J. Chen,J.M. Sedivy. Telomere shortening triggers senescence of human cells through a pathway involving atm, p53, and p21(cip1), but not p16(ink4a). Mol Cell 2004;14:501-13.
- 139. Nakamura, A.J.,Y.J. Chiang,K.S. Hathcock,I. Horikawa,O.A. Sedelnikova,R.J. Hodes, et al. Both telomeric and non-telomeric DNA damage are determinants of mammalian cellular senescence. Epigenetics Chromatin 2008;1:6.
- 140. von Zglinicki, T.,G. Saretzki,J. Ladhoff,F. d'Adda di Fagagna,S.P. Jackson. Human cell senescence as a DNA damage response. Mech Ageing Dev 2005;126:111-7.
- 141. Sancar, A.,L.A. Lindsey-Boltz,K. Unsal-Kacmaz,S. Linn. Molecular mechanisms of mammalian DNA repair and the DNA damage checkpoints. Annu Rev Biochem 2004;73:39-85.
- 142. Collado, M.,M.A. Blasco,M. Serrano. Cellular senescence in cancer and aging. Cell 2007;130:223-33.
- 143. Sherr, C.J., F. McCormick. The rb and p53 pathways in cancer. Cancer Cell 2002;2:103-12.
- 144. Fisher, A.E.,H. Hochegger,S. Takeda,K.W. Caldecott. Poly(adp-ribose) polymerase 1 accelerates single-strand break repair in concert with poly(adp-ribose) glycohydrolase. Mol Cell Biol 2007;27:5597-605.
- 145. Strom, C.E.,F. Johansson,M. Uhlen,C.A. Szigyarto,K. Erixon,T. Helleday. Poly (adp-ribose) polymerase (parp) is not involved in base excision repair but parp inhibition traps a single-strand intermediate. Nucleic Acids Res 2011;39:3166-75.

- 146. Isabelle, M.,X. Moreel,J.P. Gagne, M. Rouleau, C. Ethier, P. Gagne, et al. Investigation of parp-1, parp-2, and parg interactomes by affinity-purification mass spectrometry. Proteome Sci 2010;8:22.
- 147. Piskunova, T.S., M.N. Yurova, A.I. Ovsyannikov, A.V. Semenchenko, M.A. Zabezhinski, I.G. Popovich, et al. Deficiency in poly(adp-ribose) polymerase-1 (parp-1) accelerates aging and spontaneous carcinogenesis in mice. Curr Gerontol Geriatr Res 2008;754190.
- 148. Espinoza, L.A., M.E. Smulson, Z. Chen. Prolonged poly(adp-ribose) polymerase-1 activity regulates jp-8-induced sustained cytokine expression in alveolar macrophages. Free Radic Biol Med 2007;42:1430-40.
- 149. Zerfaoui, M.,Y. Suzuki,A.S. Naura,C.P. Hans,C. Nichols,A.H. Boulares. Nuclear translocation of p65 nf-kappab is sufficient for vcam-1, but not icam-1, expression in tnf-stimulated smooth muscle cells: Differential requirement for parp-1 expression and interaction. Cell Signal 2008;20:186-94.
- 150. de Murcia, G.,J. Menissier de Murcia. Poly(adp-ribose) polymerase: A molecular nick-sensor. Trends Biochem Sci 1994;19:172-6.
- 151. Menissier-de Murcia, J.,M. Molinete,G. Gradwohl,F. Simonin,G. de Murcia. Zinc-binding domain of poly(adp-ribose)polymerase participates in the recognition of single strand breaks on DNA. J Mol Biol 1989;210:229-33.
- 152. Cherney, B.W.,O.W. McBride,D.F. Chen,H. Alkhatib,K. Bhatia,P. Hensley, et al. Cdna sequence, protein structure, and chromosomal location of the human gene for poly(adp-ribose) polymerase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1987;84:8370-4.
- 153. Brody, L.C. Treating cancer by targeting a weakness. N Engl J Med 2005;353:949-50.
- 154. Rosen, E.M., S. Fan, I.D. Goldberg. Brca1 and prostate cancer. Cancer Invest 2001;19:396-412.
- 155. Ford, D.,D.F. Easton,D.T. Bishop,S.A. Narod,D.E. Goldgar. Risks of cancer in brca1-mutation carriers. Breast cancer linkage consortium. Lancet 1994;343:692-5.
- 156. Cancer risks in brca2 mutation carriers. J Natl Cancer Inst 1999;91:1310-6.
- 157. Rulten, S.L., A.E. Fisher, I. Robert, M.C. Zuma, M. Rouleau, L. Ju, et al. Parp-3 and aplf function together to accelerate nonhomologous end-joining. Mol Cell 2011;41:33-45.
- 158. Langelier, M.F.,J.L. Planck,S. Roy,J.M. Pascal. Crystal structures of poly(adp-ribose) polymerase-1 (parp-1) zinc fingers bound to DNA: Structural and functional insights into DNA-dependent parp-1 activity. J Biol Chem 2011;286:10690-701.
- 159. Langelier, M.F.,J.L. Planck,S. Roy,J.M. Pascal. Structural basis for DNA damage-dependent poly(adp-ribosyl)ation by human parp-1. Science 2012;336:728-32.
- 160. Haince, J.F., D. McDonald, A. Rodrigue, U. Dery, J.Y. Masson, M.J. Hendzel, et al. Parp1-dependent kinetics of recruitment of mre11 and nbs1 proteins to multiple DNA damage sites. J Biol Chem 2008;283:1197-208.
- 161. Beck, C.,I. Robert,B. Reina-San-Martin,V. Schreiber,F. Dantzer. Poly(adp-ribose) polymerases in double-strand break repair: Focus on parp1, parp2 and parp3. Exp Cell Res 2014;329:18-25.
- 162. Hochegger, H.,D. Dejsuphong,T. Fukushima,C. Morrison,E. Sonoda,V. Schreiber, et al. Parp-1 protects homologous recombination from interference by ku and ligase iv in vertebrate cells. EMBO J 2006;25:1305-14.
- 163. Quenet, D.,R. El Ramy,V. Schreiber,F. Dantzer. The role of poly(adp-ribosyl)ation in epigenetic events. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 2009;41:60-5.
- 164. Dantzer, F.,R. Santoro. The expanding role of parps in the establishment and maintenance of heterochromatin. FEBS J 2013;280:3508-18.
- 165. Audebert, M.,B. Salles,P. Calsou. Involvement of poly(adp-ribose) polymerase-1 and xrcc1/DNA ligase iii in an alternative route for DNA double-strand breaks rejoining. J Biol Chem 2004;279:55117-26.

- 166. Rai, R.,H. Zheng,H. He,Y. Luo,A. Multani,P.B. Carpenter, et al. The function of classical and alternative non-homologous end-joining pathways in the fusion of dysfunctional telomeres. EMBO J 2010;29:2598-610.
- 167. Wang, M.,W. Wu,B. Rosidi,L. Zhang,H. Wang,G. Iliakis. Parp-1 and ku compete for repair of DNA double strand breaks by distinct nhej pathways. Nucleic Acids Res 2006;34:6170-82.
- 168. Brown, M.L., D. Franco, A. Burkle, Y. Chang. Role of poly(adp-ribosyl)ation in DNA-pkcsindependent v(d)j recombination. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2002;99:4532-7.
- 169. Ruscetti, T.,B.E. Lehnert,J. Halbrook,H. Le Trong,M.F. Hoekstra,D.J. Chen, et al. Stimulation of the DNA-dependent protein kinase by poly(adp-ribose) polymerase. J Biol Chem 1998;273:14461-7.
- 170. Gagne, J.P., M. Isabelle, K.S. Lo, S. Bourassa, M.J. Hendzel, V.L. Dawson, et al. Proteome-wide identification of poly(adp-ribose) binding proteins and poly(adp-ribose)-associated protein complexes. Nucleic Acids Res 2008;36:6959-76.
- 171. Spagnolo, L.,J. Barbeau, N.J. Curtin, E.P. Morris, L.H. Pearl. Visualization of a DNA-pk/parp1 complex. Nucleic Acids Res 2012;40:4168-77.
- 172. Mansour, W.Y.,T. Rhein,J. Dahm-Daphi. The alternative end-joining pathway for repair of DNA double-strand breaks requires parp1 but is not dependent upon microhomologies. Nucleic Acids Res 2010;38:6065-77.
- 173. Boehler, C.,F. Dantzer. Parp-3, a DNA-dependent parp with emerging roles in double-strand break repair and mitotic progression. Cell Cycle 2011;10:1023-4.
- 174. Rouleau, M.,D. McDonald,P. Gagne,M.E. Ouellet,A. Droit,J.M. Hunter, et al. Parp-3 associates with polycomb group bodies and with components of the DNA damage repair machinery. J Cell Biochem 2007;100:385-401.
- 175. Beck, C.,C. Boehler,J. Guirouilh Barbat,M.E. Bonnet,G. Illuzzi,P. Ronde, et al. Parp3 affects the relative contribution of homologous recombination and nonhomologous end-joining pathways. Nucleic Acids Res 2014;42:5616-32.
- 176. Barazzuol, L.,R. Jena,N.G. Burnet,L.B. Meira,J.C. Jeynes,K.J. Kirkby, et al. Evaluation of poly (adpribose) polymerase inhibitor abt-888 combined with radiotherapy and temozolomide in glioblastoma. Radiat Oncol 2013;8:65.
- 177. Davidson, D.,Y. Wang, R. Aloyz, L. Panasci. The parp inhibitor abt-888 synergizes irinotecan treatment of colon cancer cell lines. Invest New Drugs 2013;31:461-8.
- 178. Luo, Q.,Y. Li,J. Deng,Z. Zhang. Parp-1 inhibitor sensitizes arsenic trioxide in hepatocellular carcinoma cells via abrogation of g2/m checkpoint and suppression of DNA damage repair. Chem Biol Interact 2015;226:12-22.
- 179. Xiong, T.,H. Wei,X. Chen,H. Xiao. Pj34, a poly(adp-ribose) polymerase (parp) inhibitor, reverses melphalan-resistance and inhibits repair of DNA double-strand breaks by targeting the fa/brca pathway in multidrug resistant multiple myeloma cell line rpmi8226/r. Int J Oncol 2015;46:223-32.
- 180. Guillot, C.,V. Favaudon,Z. Herceg,C. Sagne,S. Sauvaigo,P. Merle, et al. Parp inhibition and the radiosensitizing effects of the parp inhibitor abt-888 in in vitro hepatocellular carcinoma models. BMC Cancer 2014;14:603.
- 181. Kummar, S.,R. Kinders,M.E. Gutierrez,L. Rubinstein,R.E. Parchment,L.R. Phillips, et al. Phase 0 clinical trial of the poly (adp-ribose) polymerase inhibitor abt-888 in patients with advanced malignancies. J Clin Oncol 2009;27:2705-11.
- 182. Fong, P.C.,D.S. Boss,T.A. Yap,A. Tutt,P. Wu,M. Mergui-Roelvink, et al. Inhibition of poly(adpribose) polymerase in tumors from brca mutation carriers. N Engl J Med 2009;361:123-34.
- 183. Yamamoto, N.,H. Nokihara,Y. Yamada,Y. Goto,M. Tanioka,T. Shibata, et al. A phase i, dosefinding and pharmacokinetic study of olaparib (azd2281) in japanese patients with advanced solid tumors. Cancer Sci 2012;103:504-9.

- 184. Thurber, G.M.,K.S. Yang,T. Reiner,R.H. Kohler,P. Sorger,T. Mitchison, et al. Single-cell and subcellular pharmacokinetic imaging allows insight into drug action in vivo. Nat Commun 2013;4:1504.
- 185. Gupta, S.K.,A.C. Mladek,B.L. Carlson,F. Boakye-Agyeman,K.K. Bakken,S.H. Kizilbash, et al. Discordant in vitro and in vivo chemopotentiating effects of the parp inhibitor veliparib in temozolomide-sensitive versus -resistant glioblastoma multiforme xenografts. Clin Cancer Res 2014;20:3730-41.
- 186. Murray, J.,H. Thomas,P. Berry,S. Kyle,M. Patterson,C. Jones, et al. Tumour cell retention of rucaparib, sustained parp inhibition and efficacy of weekly as well as daily schedules. Br J Cancer 2014;110:1977-84.
- 187. Heacock, M.L.,D.F. Stefanick,J.K. Horton,S.H. Wilson. Alkylation DNA damage in combination with parp inhibition results in formation of s-phase-dependent double-strand breaks. DNA Repair (Amst) 2010;9:929-36.
- 188. Horton, J.K., D.F. Stefanick, J.M. Naron, P.S. Kedar, S.H. Wilson. Poly(adp-ribose) polymerase activity prevents signaling pathways for cell cycle arrest after DNA methylating agent exposure. J Biol Chem 2005;280:15773-85.
- 189. Kedar, P.S., D.F. Stefanick, J.K. Horton, S.H. Wilson. Increased parp-1 association with DNA in alkylation damaged, parp-inhibited mouse fibroblasts. Mol Cancer Res 2012;10:360-8.
- 190. Murai, J.,S.Y. Huang,B.B. Das,A. Renaud,Y. Zhang,J.H. Doroshow, et al. Trapping of parp1 and parp2 by clinical parp inhibitors. Cancer Res 2012;72:5588-99.
- 191. Murai, J.,S.Y. Huang,A. Renaud,Y. Zhang,J. Ji,S. Takeda, et al. Stereospecific parp trapping by bmn 673 and comparison with olaparib and rucaparib. Mol Cancer Ther 2014;13:433-43.
- 192. Tangutoori, S., P. Baldwin, S. Sridhar. Parp inhibitors: A new era of targeted therapy. Maturitas 2015;81:5-9.
- 193. Liu, J.F., P.A. Konstantinopoulos, U.A. Matulonis. Parp inhibitors in ovarian cancer: Current status and future promise. Gynecol Oncol 2014;133:362-9.
- 194. Brenner, J.C., B. Ateeq, Y. Li, A.K. Yocum, Q. Cao, I.A. Asangani, et al. Mechanistic rationale for inhibition of poly(adp-ribose) polymerase in ets gene fusion-positive prostate cancer. Cancer Cell 2011;19:664-78.
- 195. Mehra, R.,S.A. Tomlins,J. Yu,X. Cao,L. Wang,A. Menon, et al. Characterization of tmprss2-ets gene aberrations in androgen-independent metastatic prostate cancer. Cancer Res 2008;68:3584-90.
- 196. Dungey, F.A., D.A. Loser, A.J. Chalmers. Replication-dependent radiosensitization of human glioma cells by inhibition of poly(adp-ribose) polymerase: Mechanisms and therapeutic potential. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2008;72:1188-97.
- 197. Plummer, R.,P. Lorigan,N. Steven,L. Scott,M.R. Middleton,R.H. Wilson, et al. A phase ii study of the potent parp inhibitor, rucaparib (pf-01367338, ag014699), with temozolomide in patients with metastatic melanoma demonstrating evidence of chemopotentiation. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 2013;71:1191-9.
- 198. Plummer, R.,P. Stephens,L. Aissat-Daudigny,A. Cambois,G. Moachon,P.D. Brown, et al. Phase 1 dose-escalation study of the parp inhibitor cep-9722 as monotherapy or in combination with temozolomide in patients with solid tumors. Cancer Chemother Pharmacol 2014;74:257-65.
- 199. Samol, J.,M. Ranson,E. Scott,E. Macpherson,J. Carmichael,A. Thomas, et al. Safety and tolerability of the poly(adp-ribose) polymerase (parp) inhibitor, olaparib (azd2281) in combination with topotecan for the treatment of patients with advanced solid tumors: A phase i study. Invest New Drugs 2012;30:1493-500.
- 200. Lord, C.J., A. Ashworth. Mechanisms of resistance to therapies targeting brca-mutant cancers. Nat Med 2013;19:1381-8.

- 201. Bouwman, P.,J. Jonkers. Molecular pathways: How can brca-mutated tumors become resistant to parp inhibitors? Clin Cancer Res 2014;20:540-7.
- 202. Dent, R.A.,G.J. Lindeman,M. Clemons,H. Wildiers,A. Chan,N.J. McCarthy, et al. Phase i trial of the oral parp inhibitor olaparib in combination with paclitaxel for first- or second-line treatment of patients with metastatic triple-negative breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res 2013;15:R88.
- 203. Gunderson, C.C.,K.N. Moore. Olaparib: An oral parp-1 and parp-2 inhibitor with promising activity in ovarian cancer. Future Oncol 2015;11:747-57.
- 204. Scott, C.L.,E.M. Swisher,S.H. Kaufmann. Poly (adp-ribose) polymerase inhibitors: Recent advances and future development. J Clin Oncol 2015;33:1397-406.
- 205. Azad, A.,P. Bukczynska,S. Jackson,Y. Haupt,C. Cullinane,G.A. McArthur, et al. Co-targeting deoxyribonucleic acid-dependent protein kinase and poly(adenosine diphosphate-ribose) polymerase-1 promotes accelerated senescence of irradiated cancer cells. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2014;88:385-94.
- 206. Barreto-Andrade, J.C.,E.V. Efimova,H.J. Mauceri,M.A. Beckett,H.G. Sutton,T.E. Darga, et al. Response of human prostate cancer cells and tumors to combining parp inhibition with ionizing radiation. Mol Cancer Ther 2011;10:1185-93.
- 207. Gewirtz, D.A. Autophagy and senescence: A partnership in search of definition. Autophagy 2013;9:808-12.
- 208. Bampton, E.T.,C.G. Goemans,D. Niranjan,N. Mizushima,A.M. Tolkovsky. The dynamics of autophagy visualized in live cells: From autophagosome formation to fusion with endo/lysosomes. Autophagy 2005;1:23-36.
- 209. Katsube, T.,M. Mori,H. Tsuji,T. Shiomi,N. Shiomi,M. Onoda. Differences in sensitivity to DNAdamaging agents between xrcc4- and artemis-deficient human cells. J Radiat Res 2011;52:415-24.
- 210. Kuhne, M.,E. Riballo, N. Rief, K. Rothkamm, P.A. Jeggo, M. Lobrich. A double-strand break repair defect in atm-deficient cells contributes to radiosensitivity. Cancer Res 2004;64:500-8.
- 211. Allalunis-Turner, M.J., P.K. Zia, G.M. Barron, R. Mirzayans, R.S. Day, 3rd. Radiation-induced DNA damage and repair in cells of a radiosensitive human malignant glioma cell line. Radiat Res 1995;144:288-93.
- 212. Trucco, C.,F.J. Oliver,G. de Murcia,J. Menissier-de Murcia. DNA repair defect in poly(adp-ribose) polymerase-deficient cell lines. Nucleic Acids Res 1998;26:2644-9.
- 213. Bristol, M.L.,X. Di,M.J. Beckman,E.N. Wilson,S.C. Henderson,A. Maiti, et al. Dual functions of autophagy in the response of breast tumor cells to radiation: Cytoprotective autophagy with radiation alone and cytotoxic autophagy in radiosensitization by vitamin d 3. Autophagy 2012;8:739-53.
- 214. Bristol, M.L.,S.M. Emery,P. Maycotte,A. Thorburn,S. Chakradeo,D.A. Gewirtz. Autophagy inhibition for chemosensitization and radiosensitization in cancer: Do the preclinical data support this therapeutic strategy? J Pharmacol Exp Ther 2013;344:544-52.
- 215. Chakradeo, S.,K. Sharma,A. Alhaddad,D. Bakhshwin,N. Le,H. Harada, et al. Yet another function of p53: The switch that determines whether radiation-induced autophagy will be cytoprotective or nonprotective. Implications for autophagy inhibition as a therapeutic strategy. Mol Pharmacol 2015.
- 216. Sharma, K.,R.W. Goehe,X. Di,M.A. Hicks, 2nd,S.V. Torti,F.M. Torti, et al. A novel cytostatic form of autophagy in sensitization of non-small cell lung cancer cells to radiation by vitamin d and the vitamin d analog, eb 1089. Autophagy 2014;10:2346-61.
- 217. Efimova, E.V.,H.J. Mauceri,D.W. Golden,E. Labay,V.P. Bindokas,T.E. Darga, et al. Poly(adp-ribose) polymerase inhibitor induces accelerated senescence in irradiated breast cancer cells and tumors. Cancer Res 2010;70:6277-82.

- 218. Chatterjee, P.,G.S. Choudhary,A. Sharma,K. Singh,W.D. Heston,J. Ciezki, et al. Parp inhibition sensitizes to low dose-rate radiation tmprss2-erg fusion gene-expressing and pten-deficient prostate cancer cells. PLoS One 2013;8:e60408.
- 219. Wilson, E.N., M.L. Bristol, X. Di, W.A. Maltese, K. Koterba, M.J. Beckman, et al. A switch between cytoprotective and cytotoxic autophagy in the radiosensitization of breast tumor cells by chloroquine and vitamin d. Horm Cancer 2011;2:272-85.
- 220. Bryans, M.,M.C. Valenzano,T.D. Stamato. Absence of DNA ligase iv protein in xr-1 cells: Evidence for stabilization by xrcc4. Mutat Res 1999;433:53-8.
- 221. Rooney, S.,F.W. Alt,D. Lombard,S. Whitlow,M. Eckersdorff,J. Fleming, et al. Defective DNA repair and increased genomic instability in artemis-deficient murine cells. J Exp Med 2003;197:553-65.
- 222. Filippi-Chiela, E.C.,E.S.M.M. Bueno,M.P. Thome,G. Lenz. Single-cell analysis challenges the connection between autophagy and senescence induced by DNA damage. Autophagy 2015;0.
- 223. Murrow, L.,J. Debnath. Autophagy as a stress-response and quality-control mechanism: Implications for cell injury and human disease. Annu Rev Pathol 2013;8:105-37.
- 224. Liang, X.H.,S. Jackson,M. Seaman,K. Brown,B. Kempkes,H. Hibshoosh, et al. Induction of autophagy and inhibition of tumorigenesis by beclin 1. Nature 1999;402:672-6.
- 225. Yue, Z.,S. Jin,C. Yang,A.J. Levine,N. Heintz. Beclin 1, an autophagy gene essential for early embryonic development, is a haploinsufficient tumor suppressor. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2003;100:15077-82.
- 226. Qu, X.,J. Yu,G. Bhagat,N. Furuya,H. Hibshoosh,A. Troxel, et al. Promotion of tumorigenesis by heterozygous disruption of the beclin 1 autophagy gene. J Clin Invest 2003;112:1809-20.
- 227. Kang, M.R.,M.S. Kim,J.E. Oh,Y.R. Kim,S.Y. Song,S.S. Kim, et al. Frameshift mutations of autophagy-related genes atg2b, atg5, atg9b and atg12 in gastric and colorectal cancers with microsatellite instability. J Pathol 2009;217:702-6.
- 228. Chen, H.Y., E. White. Role of autophagy in cancer prevention. Cancer Prev Res (Phila) 2011;4:973-83.
- 229. Honscheid, P.,K. Datta, M.H. Muders. Autophagy: Detection, regulation and its role in cancer and therapy response. Int J Radiat Biol 2014;90:628-35.
- 230. Li, D.D.,T. Sun,X.Q. Wu,S.P. Chen,R. Deng,S. Jiang, et al. The inhibition of autophagy sensitises colon cancer cells with wild-type p53 but not mutant p53 to topotecan treatment. PLoS One 2012;7:e45058.
- 231. de Albuquerque-Xavier, A.C.,L.G. Bastos,J.C. de Freitas, Jr.,F. Leve,W.F. de Souza,W.M. de Araujo, et al. Blockade of irradiation-induced autophagosome formation impairs proliferation but does not enhance cell death in hct-116 human colorectal carcinoma cells. Int J Oncol 2012;40:1267-76.
- 232. Schonewolf, C.A., M. Mehta, D. Schiff, H. Wu, B.G. Haffty, V. Karantza, et al. Autophagy inhibition by chloroquine sensitizes ht-29 colorectal cancer cells to concurrent chemoradiation. World J Gastrointest Oncol 2014;6:74-82.
- 233. Alessio, N.,S. Del Gaudio,S. Capasso,G. Di Bernardo,S. Cappabianca,M. Cipollaro, et al. Low dose radiation induced senescence of human mesenchymal stromal cells and impaired the autophagy process. Oncotarget 2015;6:8155-66.
- 234. Romanov, S.R.,B.K. Kozakiewicz,C.R. Holst,M.R. Stampfer,L.M. Haupt,T.D. Tlsty. Normal human mammary epithelial cells spontaneously escape senescence and acquire genomic changes. Nature 2001;409:633-7.
- 235. Beausejour, C.M.,A. Krtolica,F. Galimi,M. Narita,S.W. Lowe,P. Yaswen, et al. Reversal of human cellular senescence: Roles of the p53 and p16 pathways. EMBO J 2003;22:4212-22.
- 236. Dirac, A.M., R. Bernards. Reversal of senescence in mouse fibroblasts through lentiviral suppression of p53. J Biol Chem 2003;278:11731-4.

- 237. Duan, J.,Z. Chen,P. Liu,Z. Zhang,T. Tong. Wild-type p16ink4a suppresses cell growth, telomerase activity and DNA repair in human breast cancer mcf-7 cells. Int J Oncol 2004;24:1597-605.
- 238. Park, S.H., J.S. Lim, K.L. Jang. All-trans retinoic acid induces cellular senescence via upregulation of p16, p21, and p27. Cancer Lett 2011;310:232-9.
- 239. Mar, F.A., J. Debnath, B.A. Stohr. Autophagy-independent senescence and genome instability driven by targeted telomere dysfunction. Autophagy 2015;11:527-37.
- 240. Sui, X., W. Han, H. Pan. P53-induced autophagy and senescence. Oncotarget 2015.
- 241. Gewirtz, D.A.,S.E. Holt,L.W. Elmore. Accelerated senescence: An emerging role in tumor cell response to chemotherapy and radiation. Biochem Pharmacol 2008;76:947-57.
- 242. Bandhakavi, S.,Y.M. Kim,S.H. Ro,H. Xie,G. Onsongo,C.B. Jun, et al. Quantitative nuclear proteomics identifies mtor regulation of DNA damage response. Mol Cell Proteomics 2010;9:403-14.
- 243. Budanov, A.V., M. Karin. P53 target genes sestrin1 and sestrin2 connect genotoxic stress and mtor signaling. Cell 2008;134:451-60.
- 244. Hunter, J.E., E. Willmore, J.A. Irving, Z. Hostomsky, S.J. Veuger, B.W. Durkacz. Nf-kappab mediates radio-sensitization by the parp-1 inhibitor, ag-014699. Oncogene 2012;31:251-64.
- 245. Godon, C.,F.P. Cordelieres,D. Biard,N. Giocanti,F. Megnin-Chanet,J. Hall, et al. Parp inhibition versus parp-1 silencing: Different outcomes in terms of single-strand break repair and radiation susceptibility. Nucleic Acids Res 2008;36:4454-64.
- 246. Calabrese, C.R., R. Almassy, S. Barton, M.A. Batey, A.H. Calvert, S. Canan-Koch, et al. Anticancer chemosensitization and radiosensitization by the novel poly(adp-ribose) polymerase-1 inhibitor ag14361. J Natl Cancer Inst 2004;96:56-67.
- 247. Noel, G.,C. Godon, M. Fernet, N. Giocanti, F. Megnin-Chanet, V. Favaudon. Radiosensitization by the poly(adp-ribose) polymerase inhibitor 4-amino-1,8-naphthalimide is specific of the s phase of the cell cycle and involves arrest of DNA synthesis. Mol Cancer Ther 2006;5:564-74.
- 248. Bridges, K.A.,C. Toniatti,C.A. Buser,H. Liu,T.A. Buchholz,R.E. Meyn. Niraparib (mk-4827), a novel poly(adp-ribose) polymerase inhibitor, radiosensitizes human lung and breast cancer cells. Oncotarget 2014;5:5076-86.
- 249. Burkle, A.,C. Brabeck,J. Diefenbach,S. Beneke. The emerging role of poly(adp-ribose) polymerase-1 in longevity. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 2005;37:1043-53.
- 250. Bryant, H.E., N. Schultz, H.D. Thomas, K.M. Parker, D. Flower, E. Lopez, et al. Specific killing of brca2-deficient tumours with inhibitors of poly(adp-ribose) polymerase. Nature 2005;434:913-7.
- 251. Giannini, G.,E. Ristori,F. Cerignoli,C. Rinaldi,M. Zani,A. Viel, et al. Human mre11 is inactivated in mismatch repair-deficient cancers. EMBO Rep 2002;3:248-54.
- 252. Patel, A.G.,J.N. Sarkaria,S.H. Kaufmann. Nonhomologous end joining drives poly(adp-ribose) polymerase (parp) inhibitor lethality in homologous recombination-deficient cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2011;108:3406-11.
- 253. Kotter, A.,K. Cornils,K. Borgmann,J. Dahm-Daphi,C. Petersen,E. Dikomey, et al. Inhibition of parp1-dependent end-joining contributes to olaparib-mediated radiosensitization in tumor cells. Mol Oncol 2014;8:1616-25.
- 254. Metzger, M.J.,B.L. Stoddard,R.J. Monnat, Jr. Parp-mediated repair, homologous recombination, and back-up non-homologous end joining-like repair of single-strand nicks. DNA Repair (Amst) 2013;12:529-34.
- 255. Boquoi, A.,S. Arora,T. Chen,S. Litwin,J. Koh,G.H. Enders. Reversible cell cycle inhibition and premature aging features imposed by conditional expression of p16ink4a. Aging Cell 2015;14:139-47.
- 256. Portugal, J.,S. Mansilla,M. Bataller. Mechanisms of drug-induced mitotic catastrophe in cancer cells. Curr Pharm Des 2010;16:69-78.

- 257. Castedo, M.,J.L. Perfettini,T. Roumier,K. Andreau,R. Medema,G. Kroemer. Cell death by mitotic catastrophe: A molecular definition. Oncogene 2004;23:2825-37.
- 258. Castedo, M.,J.L. Perfettini,T. Roumier,A. Valent,H. Raslova,K. Yakushijin, et al. Mitotic catastrophe constitutes a special case of apoptosis whose suppression entails aneuploidy. Oncogene 2004;23:4362-70.
- 259. Bataller, M.,J. Portugal. Apoptosis and cell recovery in response to oxidative stress in p53deficient prostate carcinoma cells. Arch Biochem Biophys 2005;437:151-8.
- 260. Alotaibi, M.R.,B. Asnake,X. Di,M.J. Beckman,D. Durrant,D. Simoni, et al. Stilbene 5c, a microtubule poison with vascular disrupting properties that induces multiple modes of growth arrest and cell death. Biochem Pharmacol 2013;86:1688-98.
- 261. Yu, L.,Z.F. Shang,F.M. Hsu,Z. Zhang,V. Tumati,Y.F. Lin, et al. Nsclc cells demonstrate differential mode of cell death in response to the combined treatment of radiation and a DNA-pkcs inhibitor. Oncotarget 2015;6:3848-60.
- 262. Chevanne, M.,M. Zampieri,R. Caldini,A. Rizzo,F. Ciccarone,A. Catizone, et al. Inhibition of parp activity by pj-34 leads to growth impairment and cell death associated with aberrant mitotic pattern and nucleolar actin accumulation in m14 melanoma cell line. J Cell Physiol 2010;222:401-10.
- 263. Shelton, J.W.,T.V. Waxweiler,J. Landry,H. Gao,Y. Xu,L. Wang, et al. In vitro and in vivo enhancement of chemoradiation using the oral parp inhibitor abt-888 in colorectal cancer cells. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2013;86:469-76.
- 264. Rajput, A.,I. Dominguez San Martin, R. Rose, A. Beko, C. Levea, E. Sharratt, et al. Characterization of hct116 human colon cancer cells in an orthotopic model. J Surg Res 2008;147:276-81.
- 265. Bendell, J.,E.M. O'Reilly,M.R. Middleton,I. Chau,H. Hochster,A. Fielding, et al. Phase i study of olaparib plus gemcitabine in patients with advanced solid tumours and comparison with gemcitabine alone in patients with locally advanced/metastatic pancreatic cancer. Ann Oncol 2015;26:804-11.
- 266. Sandhu, S.K., W.R. Schelman, G. Wilding, V. Moreno, R.D. Baird, S. Miranda, et al. The poly(adpribose) polymerase inhibitor niraparib (mk4827) in brca mutation carriers and patients with sporadic cancer: A phase 1 dose-escalation trial. Lancet Oncol 2013;14:882-92.